PREDICTIVE VALUE OF PERFORMANCE-BASED PHYSICAL FUNCTION MEASURES FOR OSTEOARTHRITIS-RELATED HEALTH OUTCOMES AND RESPONSE TO A PHYSICAL ACTIVITY INTERVENTION

by

Hiral S. Master

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the University of Delaware in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biomechanics and Movement Science

Summer 2019

© 2019 Hiral Master All Rights Reserved

PREDICTIVE VALUE OF PERFORMANCE-BASED PHYSICAL FUNCTION MEASURES FOR OSTEOARTHRITIS-RELATED HEALTH OUTCOMES AND RESPONSE TO A PHYSICAL ACTIVITY INTERVENTION

by

Hiral S. Master

Approved:

Samuel C.K. Lee, Ph.D. Chair of the Department of Biomechanics and Movement Sciences

Approved:

Kathleen S. Matt, Ph.D. Dean of the College of Health Sciences

Approved:

Douglas J. Doren, Ph.D. Interim Vice Provost for Graduate and Professional Education and Dean of the Graduate College

	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	Daniel K. White, Sc.D. Professor in charge of dissertation
	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	Lynn Snyder-Mackler, Sc.D. Member of dissertation committee
	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	Gregory E. Hicks, Ph.D. Member of dissertation committee
	I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.
Signed:	Michael LaValley, Ph.D. Member of dissertation committee

I certify that I have read this dissertation and that in my opinion it meets the academic and professional standard required by the University as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Signed:

Monica Maly, Ph.D. Member of dissertation committee

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Earning a PhD was tough, but tough got going due to wonderful mentors and social support system. I want to extend my gratitude to all the people who had made not only my dissertation project possible but also helped me sail through my other projects during my time at the University of Delaware as a PhD student/candidate. I would not have been able to complete my research projects without the guidance of my committee. My primary mentor for this dissertation was Dr. Daniel K White. Being his first PhD student has made this journey even more special since both of us were learning at the same time. It is impossible for me to state Dr. White's contribution not only in my PhD journey but also in my career and personal development. He always had belief in me even though when I thought I was not capable of doing a task. I am fortunate to have his mentorship. Second, Dr. Lynn Snyder-Mackler, thank you for believing in me, and I am grateful to you for recommending me to the PhD program, without which, I would not have been in the University of Delaware. I want to thank you for sharing your expertise in osteoarthritis (OA) and writing, which has helped me write my project clearly and succinctly. Dr. Greg Hicks, you experience with epidemiological research and ability to convey research in a convincing story has been invaluable. Dr. Michael LaValley, without your statistical expertise and support, I would not have been able to step out of my comfort zone to run new advanced statistical analysis independently. Dr. Monica Maly, your expertise in knee OA and physical functioning has been invaluable and have helped me develop my project.

I want to acknowledge the researchers at the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI) for making the data publicly available. OAI data has played a vital role in this dissertation project. The OAI is a public-private partnership composed of five contracts (N01-AR-2258; N01-AR-2-2259; N01-AR-2-2260; N01-AR-2-2261; N01-AR-2-2262) funded by the National Institutes of Health (NIH), a branch of the Department of Health and Human Services, and conducted by the OAI Study Investigators. Private funding partners include Merck Research Laboratories, Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, GlaxoSmithKline, and Pfizer, Inc. Private sector funding for the OAI is managed by the Foundation for the NIH. Chapters 2 to 4 were prepared using an OAI public use dataset and does not necessarily reflect the opinions or views of the OAI investigators, the NIH, or the private funding partners.

I want to thank all the study participants who participated in the Physical Activity Intervention trial conducted in the Physical Therapy Clinic at the University of Delaware. A big thank you to all the licensed physical therapists in the clinic who gave the physical activity intervention for the randomized control clinical trial.

Next, I would thank my colleagues in the Physical Activity Lab. Dr. Louise M Thoma, thank you for your support and providing me a dose of confidence booster whenever I was low. I want to thank you for letting me bounce my ideas to you before bringing it up to Dr. White. Dr. Laura Schmitt, thank you for your help in coordinating the physical activity intervention trial in the physical therapy clinic at the University of Delaware. A big thank you to Dr. Melissa Ziegler and Benjamin Brewer for having indepth statistics discussion with me. Meredith, Dana, and Jason, you have been awesome PhD peers and lab colleagues during my journey. I am thankful for our long talks and chats discussing either our research projects or life. Lauren, thank you for

vi

helping Physical Activity Lab and am grateful for our weekly WAWA trips. I will miss that. All the DPT and undergraduate students who have worked in our lab, thank you for your support and quality checking all the data.

Thank you, faculty members and administrative staff of BIOMS program, administrative staff of Physical Therapy Department, Office for International Students and Scholars, Graduate & Professional Education office, and American College of Rheumatology for giving me ample opportunities to organize social and educational activities for peers and colleagues. These opportunities have been wonderful for personal growth and have kept me sane while pursuing my PhD at the University of Delaware.

Thank you to all other PhD or Masters students in the BIOMS program or other programs at the University of Delaware for your friendship and inevitable support. I am sorry I could not name all of you. Otherwise, this section would be insanely long.

Thank you to my family and friends in Mumbai, India, the United States, and other countries. A big thank you to mother (Nina Master), father (Shailesh Master), sister (Binal Mehta) and brother-in-law (Kashyap Mehta) who always believed in me and supported my unconventional decision of pursuing PhD over traditional arranged marriage and after getting physical therapy license and Masters in Public Health in the United States. A big thank you to my friend Piyush Zope for your support not only with encouraging me to dive in and develop more skills that are technical but also, constantly motivating me when I was down. Thank you to all my mentors from the University of North Texas Health Science Centre and Seth G.S. Medical College for the encouragement and support. The love and support from my family and friends all

vii

over the world make me feel special and motivates me to work harder. I cannot express this love and support in words.

I want to thank and acknowledge all the foundations and institutions for giving me financial assistance and for making my PhD training possible. These grants include the University of Delaware's Doctoral Fellowship award, Professional Development Award, Summer Doctoral fellowship Award; Dr. White's R21-AR071079-01A1, K12HD055931-01, K23AR070913; from the National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases and, Outstanding graduate student award and Student and Resident ACR/ARP Annual Meeting Scholarship from American College of Rheumatology.

Once again, a big thank you to all of you for your constant support and positively contributing to not only my project but also my personal and professional life.

PREFACE

At the time of preparing this dissertation document, one of the chapters has been accepted for publication or published and reused here with copyright permission of the journals. I want to take a moment to acknowledge my coauthors and clarify my contribution to these works.

Master, H., Thoma, L. M., Christiansen, M. B., Polakowski, E., Schmitt, L. A., & White, D. K. (2018). Minimum performance on clinical tests of physical function to predict walking 6,000 steps/day in knee osteoarthritis: an observational study. Arthritis care & research, 70(7), 1005-1011.

The conception and study design was a joint effort amongst coauthors. I was responsible for downloading, organizing, managing the data from the OAI website. I contributed to the statistical analysis with assistance from Daniel K White and interpretation of results with the assistance of Louise M Thoma and Daniel K White. I was the sole drafter of this manuscript, with editing assistance and manuscript review from the co-authors.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST	OF TA	ABLES	iv
LIST	OF FI	GURESxv	vii
ABST	[RAC	Гхv	111
Chan	or		
Chap	lei		
1	INT	RODUCTION	.1
	1.1	Dissertation overview	.1
	1.2	Current and future health outcomes	.3
	1.3	Significance and implication	. 5
	1.4	Overall Objective	10
	1.5	Specific Aims and hypothesis	10
2	MIN	IMIUM PERFORMANCE ON CLINICAL TESTS OF PHYSICAL	
	FUN	CTION TO PREDICT WALKING 6000 STEPS/DAY IN KNEE	
	OST	EOARTHRITIS: AN OBSERVATIONAL STUDY	14
	2.1	Introduction	14
	2.2	Methods	16
		2.2.1 Study participants	16
		2.2.2 Study Outcome	18
		2.2.3 Study Exposures	19
		2.2.3.1 Walking speed	20
		2.2.3.2 Five times sit to stand test	20
		2.2.4 Potential Confounders	21
		2.2.5 Statistical Analysis	21
	2.3	Results	23
	2.4	Discussion	26
		2.4.1 Limitations	28
		2.4.2 Strengths	29
		2.4.3 Clinical Implication	29
		г ··· г	

	2.5	Conclu	usion	30			
3	THE TIM	THE RELATION OF PHYSICAL FUNCTION MEASURED AT ONE TIME-POINT VERSUS CHANGE OVER ONE YEAR TO ALL-CAUSE					
	MO	MORTALITY					
	3.1 3.2	Introd Metho	uction ds	31 33			
		3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3	Study Participants: the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI) Study Outcome Study exposure	33 33 33			
			3.2.3.1 Walking speed3.2.3.2 Repeated chair stands time	33 35			
		3.2.4 3.2.5	Potential confounders Statistical Analysis	37 37			
	3.3	Result	s	38			
		3.3.1 3.3.2	Walking speed Repeated chair stands	38 41			
	3.4	Discus	ssion	44			
		3.4.1 3.4.2	Strengths and limitations Clinical implications	47 47			
	3.5	Conclu	usion	48			
4	OPTIMAL THRESHOLDS OF PHYSICAL FUNCTION MEASURE PREDICTIVE OF ALL-CAUSE MORTALITY AND KNEE REPLACEMENT IN KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS: AN OBSERVATIONAL STUDY						
	4.1 4.2	Introd Metho	uctionds	49 52			
		4.2.1 4.2.2	Study Participants: the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI) Study Outcome	52 53			
			4.2.2.1 All-cause mortality4.2.2.2 KR	53 53			

		4.2.3	Study ex	posure	53
			4.2.3.1	Walking speed	53
			4.2.3.2	Repeated chair stands time	54
		4.2.4	Potential	confounders	54
		4.2.5	Statistica	al Analysis	55
	4.3	Result	ts		56
		4.3.1	Walking	speed	56
		4.3.2	Repeated	d chair stands time	61
	4.4	Discu	ssion		64
		4.4.1	Strengths	s and Limitations	67
		4.4.2	Clinical	Implication	68
	4.5	Concl	usion		68
	TATE	PHYSICAL ACTIVITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPIST-LED YSICAL ACTIVITY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER TOTAL WEE REPLACEMENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY			
	IN F PHY KNI	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT PLACEME	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY	ST-LED FOTAL 70
	IN F PHY KNI	PHYSIC SICAL EE REP	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT PLACEME	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2	PHYSIC SICAL EE REP Introd Metho	CAL ACTI CACTIVIT PLACEME uction	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 72
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2	PHYSIC SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1	CAL ACTI ACTIVIT LACEME uction od	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 72
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT PLACEME uction od Study pa Study ou	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY urticipants	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 72 72 72
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT PLACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ex	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY rticipants posures	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 72 72 75 77
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT PLACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ou Study ex Statistica	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY rrticipants ttcome posures al Analysis	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 Result	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT PLACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ou Study ex Statistica	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY articipants posures al Analysis	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 72 72 75 75 75 78 78
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 Result	CAL ACTI ACTIVIT LACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ex Statistica ts	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY rrticipants ntcome posures al Analysis	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 72 72 75 75 77 78 79 79
	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 Result Discus Concl	CAL ACTI ACTIVIT LACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ou Study ex Statistica	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY articipants itcome posures al Analysis	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 72 72 72 75 75 77 78 79 79 85 87
6	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 SUN	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 Result Discus Concl	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT PLACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ou Study ex Statistica ts ssion Y	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY intcome	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 70 72 72 72 72 75 77 78 79 85 87 87
6	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 SUN 6.1	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 Result Discus Concl /MAR Limita	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT LACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ou Study ex Statistica ts ssion y ations and	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY intcome	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 72 72 72 72 75 77 78 79 85 87 89
6	IN F PHY KNI 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 SUN 6.1 6.2	PHYSIC (SICAL EE REP Introd Metho 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 Result Discus Concl /MAR Limita Concl	CAL ACTI L ACTIVIT LACEME uction od Study pa Study ou Study ou Study ex Statistica ts ssion Y ations and usion and	VITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPI TY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER 7 ENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY intcome	ST-LED FOTAL 70 70 70 70 72 72 72 72 72 75 75 75 77 78 85 87 87

Appendix

А	IRB APPROVAL LETTER: TO USE PUBLICLY AVAILABLE DATA –
	OSTEOARTHITITS INITATIVE (OAI)112
В	IRB APPROVAL LETTER FOR RANDOMIZED CONTROL CLINICAL
	TRIAL - PHYSICAL THERAPIST-LED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY
	INTERVENTION AFTER TKR
С	PERMISSION TO USE PAPER PUBLISHED IN ARTHITIS CARE &
	RESEARCH JOURNAL

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1:	Characteristics of participants who were and were not included in the study analysis
Table 2.2:	Example 2 x 2 contingency table to illustrate how groups were identified to calculate specificity. The italicized qualifiers for poor and good physical function were changed iteratively to determine the specificity over a range of performance on the clinical tests of physical function. 22
Table 2.3:	Characteristics of study participants
Table 2.4:	Unadjusted and *adjusted performance of physical function tests with steps/day using linear regression models
Table 3.1:	Characteristics of study participants who completed 20-m walk test at baseline and 12-month follow-up visit (N=4229)
Table 3.2:	Association of walking speed and change in walking speed over a year to the risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years among all the study participants
Table 3.3:	Characteristics of study participants who completed five times sit to stand test walk test at baseline and 12-month follow-up visit (N=3754) 42
Table 3.4:	Association of repeated chair stands time and change in repeated chair time over a prior year to the risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years among all the study participants
Table 4.1:	Characteristics of study participants who completed 20-m walk test at baseline (N=4775)
Table 4.2:	Association of walking speed and risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years in adults with knee OA
Table 4.3:	Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach [^] to identify the optimal threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of all-cause mortality in overall sample (N=4775)

Table 4.4:	Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach [^] to identify the optimal threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of all-cause mortality in younger adults with knee OA (N=2966)
Table 4.5:	Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach [^] to identify the optimal threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of all-cause mortality in older adults with knee OA (N=1809)
Table 4.6:	Association of walking speed and risk of KR over 9 years in adults with knee OA
Table 4.7:	Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach [^] to identify the optimal threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of KR in older adults with knee OA (N=1809)
Table 4.8:	Characteristics of study participants who completed five times sit to stand test at baseline (N=4486)
Table 4.9:	Association of repeated chair stands time and risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years in adults with knee OA63
Table 4.10:	Association of repeated chair stands time and risk of KR over 9 years in adults with knee OA
Table 5.1:	Characteristics of the participants who were in the control group (N=31) and who received PT-led physical activity intervention (N=36)
Table 5.2:	Participant characteristics stratified by those who achieved (Yes) versus those who did not achieve (No) improvements in physical activity defined using 3 different approaches
Table 5.3:	Subgroups identified using VT method when quantile distribution i.e., 50th, 60th, 70th and 80th percentile was used to set the thresholds for the difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity intervention and control groups
Table 5.4:	Subgroups identified using VT method when the threshold was set to 10% difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity intervention and control group

Table 5.5:Association of predictor variables identified using a VT method to the
odds of achieving the improvements in physical activity defined using
3 different approaches in people after TKR who received PT-led
physical activity intervention only (N=36).84

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1:	Data reduction from full OAI sample to the eligible sub-cohort of accelerometer study participants (n=2712) at 48-month follow-up	17
Figure 2.2	A-B:Actigraph GT1M (A) and participant wearing the monitor around the waist such that the accelerometer sits on right anterior superior iliac spine (B)	19
Figure 2.3:	Physical function measures that reflect 80, 85, 90 and 95% specificity* in all, ROA and SxOA participants	26
Figure 3.1:	Kaplan-Meier survival curves for adults with knee OA who are defined as fast sustainers, slow sustainers, fast decliners and slow decliners using a 20-m walk test.	40
Figure 3.2:	Kaplan-Meier survival curves for adults with knee OA who are defined as fast sustainers, slow sustainers, fast decliners and slow decliners using five times sit to stand test.	43
Figure 5.1:	Physical therapist-led physical activity intervention	75
Figure 5.2	A-C: Actigraph GT3X monitor (A and B) and participant wearing the monitor around the waist such that accelerometer sits on the right anterior superior iliac spine (C)	76

ABSTRACT

Background: Over 14 million Americans have symptomatic knee osteoarthritis (OA), which has no cure. Knee OA is a leading cause of functional limitation such as difficulty walking and getting up from a chair, which can be addressed by rehabilitation. However, less than 14% of people with knee OA receive rehabilitation. One reason for low referrals may be the inability to identify those that are in need. Performance-based measures of physical function that identify functional limitation are a potential means to select such individuals. However, clinical assessment of performance-based measures is not part of the routine practice for knee OA. The purpose of this dissertation was to investigate the predictive value of selected clinically feasible performance-based measures with future health outcomes in order to better identify who may be possible candidates for rehabilitation.

Objective: The long-term goal of this work is to identify individuals with knee OA who may benefit from rehabilitation. The overall objective of this dissertation was to investigate if performance-based physical function measures predict OA-related health outcomes (Aims 1 to 3) in adults with knee OA and response to physical therapist led physical activity intervention in adults after total knee replacement (TKR) (Exploratory aim).

Methods: A publicly available large knee OA-related dataset, the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI) was used to answer research questions in Aims 1 to 3. The primary study exposures were physical function measures i.e., 1) walking speed measured using a 20-m walk test and 2) repeated chair stands measured using a five times sit-tostand test. The main study outcomes were 1) physical activity measured using accelerometers, 2) time to all-cause mortality, and 3) time to total knee replacement. For the exploratory aim, we used data from the on-going randomized clinical trial, where individuals post TKR who underwent physical therapy were recruited. **Results:** Thresholds of physical function measures indicative of physical inability to walk at least 6000 steps/day were identified in Aim 1. These thresholds may indicate when people with knee OA need rehabilitation to address underlying functional limitation such as impaired endurance, to minimize the risk of future poor health and increase the ability to be physically active. The thresholds on the physical function measures may serve as a clinical target for health professionals. We found that physical function measures assessed at one time-point may be sufficient to gauge mortality risk rather than being measured repeatedly over time. The key finding from Aim 3 was that walking speed was a robust predictor for all-cause mortality in older as well as middle-aged adults with knee OA. Thus, walking speed may be a simple indicator of health in adults with knee OA. Health care professionals may use walking speed to assess expected health and tailor goals of care for knee OA population. Finally, findings from exploratory aim suggests there may be subgroups of patients post-TKR who experience greater benefit from physical therapist led physical activity intervention.

Conclusion: This dissertation provided preliminary evidence on the predictive value of physical function measures for OA-related health outcomes and response to a physical therapist led physical activity intervention. This evidence of the predictive value will provide healthcare professionals with meaningful clinical thresholds on the performance-based measures to assess functional limitation in adults with knee OA.

xix

These thresholds will not only aid in clinical decision making by telling clinicians, which patients may need rehabilitation to address functional limitation but also identify candidates who are ready for a physical activity intervention vs. those who may need other interventions such as rehabilitation first to address functional limitation and/or weight management.

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Dissertation overview

Over 14 million Americans have symptomatic knee osteoarthritis (OA) (1), and worldwide, over 250 million people have knee OA (2). Knee OA is a leading cause of functional limitation such as difficulty walking and getting up from a chair (3-6). These limitations in physical function have a detrimental effect on an individual's quality of life (4) and lead to disability (7, 8) and increase the risk of allcause mortality (9-11). Assessing physical function in adults with knee OA is of utmost importance since it represents an individual's ability to participate in daily activities such as bathing, dressing, fulfill social roles in contexts of work, community, and family (12, 13) and physiological well-being (14).

Further, performance-based measures used to assess walking speed and repeated chair stand quantify how much an individual can do rather than what an individual perceives to do (14). It is known that these assessments are excellent predictors of adverse health outcomes such as mortality (15) and falls (16) in wellfunctioning older adults. Therefore, performance-based physical function measure is considered a "functional vital sign" of the health in older adults (17).

To date, knee OA has no cure (1, 18) but the symptoms (e.g., knee pain) and functional limitation can be addressed by rehabilitation (19-21). However, less than 14% of people with knee OA receive rehabilitation (22, 23). One reason for low referrals may be the inability to identify those that are in need. Performance-based measures of physical function that identify functional limitation are a potential means to select such individuals. However, clinical assessment of performance-based physical function measures is not part of the routine practice for knee OA (24). Not assessing physical function in routine clinical practice may be one of the reasons that may explain low referral to rehabilitation (22, 23). We propose that health professionals could better refer people with knee OA to rehabilitation with the knowledge of meaningful thresholds of performance-based physical function measures for future health outcomes.

To elaborate on the above point, I would use the analogy of the use of body temperature as a vital sign of health. Body temperature is a vital sign, which can be assessed using a thermometer. The values of body temperature on a thermometer provide information regarding the current health status of the person such as mild versus moderate versus high fever. This degree of fever, may, in turn, guide the treatment, i.e., whether the patient would need medication or hospitalization.

Applying the same logic of body temperature as a vital sign of health to physical function as function vital sign, we know physical function can be assessed by valid and reliable performance-based measures. Clinicians may use performancebased measures to track the functional status of people with knee OA and identify if a patient has functional limitation severe enough that would warrant a referral to rehabilitation. However, meaningful clinical thresholds for the objective measures of

assessing functional limitation that may guide the care for knee OA is unclear. Investigating the predictive value of functional vital signs for OA-related health outcomes and response to rehabilitation is important because the functional vital signs may serve as a potent tool to identify people who need rehabilitation to address the existing functional limitation (20, 21) and reduce the risk of subsequent poor health outcomes.

The purpose of this dissertation is to investigate the predictive value of selected clinically feasible performance-based measures with future health outcomes that are relevant for knee OA to establish so-called 'functional vital signs' for this patient population.

1.2 Current and future health outcomes

Physical activity is an indicator of current and future health. More than half of people with knee OA are physically inactive (25), which is a critical problem mainly because of two reasons. First, people with knee OA who are inactive face a cascade of health problems such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and premature death (26-28). Worldwide over 5.3 million deaths occur due to physical inactivity (29). Second, tremendous growth is expected in this patient population. Currently, over 14 million Americans have symptomatic knee OA (1) and the lifetime risk of developing symptomatic knee OA is approximately 45% and this lifetime risk doubles in adults with knee OA who are obese compared to normal weight (30). Moreover, it is estimated that by 2050, over 130 million people worldwide will have knee OA (31). Therefore, we must understand why people with knee OA are physically inactive, which will contribute to the evidence-based planning of health interventions. The

effective intervention will have to target the factors known to cause physical inactivity.

Knee OA increases the risk of all-cause mortality. A population-based studies in England, China and showed that adults with symptomatic knee OA were 55% (10) and 90% (11) more likely for all-cause mortality respectively compared to the general population. A population-based study in the United States has shown that adults with radiographic knee OA also have increased mortality risk (32). Functional ability influences the individual's survival (15). Hawker and co-authors have shown that people with at least moderately severe symptomatic hip and/or knee OA who report walking difficulty i.e., use walking aid were 51% (adjusted HR 1.51, 95% CI [1.34, 1.70]) more likely to die over 13 years compared to those who do not report walking difficulty (9). However, little is known about what specific aspects of walking difficulty increase mortality risk. Walking speed is a strong predictor of mortality in older adults (15). We do not know whether functional vital signs, including walking speed and repeated chair stands, are equally strong predictors for all-cause mortality in the US population with knee OA. Investigating the predictive value of functional vital signs with mortality in adults with knee OA is important since a number of people with knee OA are projected to increase by 50% over the next 20 years (33). Further, if functional vital signs predict the mortality risk, it may lay a foundation for investigating and developing an intervention to target modifiable factors for health and survival.

Total knee replacement (TKR) is an important health outcome in adults with knee OA. TKR is the definitive treatment for end-stage knee OA, and more than 650,000 TKRs were done in America in 2008 that accounted for \$10.4 billion (34).

Though cartilage loss and radiographic OA severity may predict the risk for future TKR (35), people with knee OA with mild radiographic severity may also undergo TKR due to severe knee pain and functional limitation (34). One reason for this inconsistencies in predicting TKR may be that structural impairment may not correlate with symptoms and functional limitation (36-42). No well-established approach predicts the need for TKR, which incorporates knee health and function. It is known that slow walking speed predicts incident knee OA (43) and worsening of depressive symptoms in adults with knee OA (44). However, it is unclear whether walking speed and repeated chair stands predict the risk of TKR. Investigating the predictive value of functional vital signs with TKR in adults with knee OA is important since the number of TKRs are projected to grow by 673% from 450,000 TKRs in 2005 to 3.48 million by 2030 (45).

1.3 Significance and implication

Physical function declines with age (46-49), and not all decline is uniform. Rather, there are different rates or trajectories of change in physical function, i.e., some decline quickly, while others' are stable or decline gradually. For instance, as people continue to age, walking speed declines (47), though these changes are not the same across all the individuals. White et al., have shown the older adults who had a fast decline in walking speed had a 90% greater risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who had a slow decline (50). However, individuals having similar walking speed in the present may have had different trajectories of decline, i.e., some may have experienced fast decline while others may remain relatively stable. It is unclear among those people who have similar walking speed in the present, the risk of all-cause mortality may be higher in those who experienced a fast decline over one year compared to those who remained relatively stable over the past one year. In other words, it is unknown how well the predictive validity for a single assessment of walking speed at one time-point for future health outcomes, such as all-cause mortality, compares with repeated assessments over time.

On the one hand, the collection of physical function at the initial evaluation may be feasible since this evaluation is comprehensive in nature. On the other hand, most health professionals do not measure physical function in a standardized fashion as part of the routine clinical examination for knee OA. Barriers for repeated assessment include time, physical space, and equipment. Therefore, in this dissertation, we will investigate the predictive validity of one versus repeated assessments of physical function (functional vital signs) for mortality. This investigation is important, as it will clarify whether assessing prevalent physical function at one time is a reasonable substitute for repeated measures.

Previous studies show that walking speed is a strong predictor of all-cause mortality in well-functioning older adults (aged >65 years) (15, 51). Specifically, walking slower than 1.0 m/s increases the risk for all-cause mortality in older adults (15) while walking slower than 1.22 m/sec represents functional inability to be active (52) as well as difficulty crossing streets using timed signals (51). However, the specific cut point of walking speed predictive for OA-related health outcomes such as all-cause mortality and TKR in adults with knee OA is unclear. Identifying the specific level of walking speed predictive for OA-related health outcomes is important as it provides valuable information that can be applied clinically to identify the risk profile of the patients. Further, the cut-point may also provide a target for the interventions that promote physical functioning.

In this dissertation, we will use Maximum Likelihood Chi-Square approach to investigate the optimal thresholds of functional vital signs that best discriminate those who have versus those who do not have increased risk for poor health outcomes such as the time to death due to any cause, as the outcome of primary interest. As the time to death is a failure time outcome, we need to account for censoring since we do not have information whether the event occurred or not outside the study or in the subjects who were lost to follow-up. Accounting for time-to-event and accounting for censoring provides critical information about the time at risk, especially when the outcomes are measured at different time-points. Therefore, traditional analyses developed to identify optimal thresholds for uncensored binary outcomes such as receiver operating curves (ROC) would need to be modified. Sima and Gönen (53) consider several techniques modifying ROC-curve based methods and test-based methods for this purpose. Based on their simulation studies, they recommend the use of an approach maximizing the likelihood ratio test for selection of the optimal thresholds. Maximum Likelihood Chi-Square approach is sensitive compared to traditional ROC for identifying optimal thresholds, specifically when the time to allcause mortality is important for the prognosis. Accounting for time to the event provides additional information, especially when the outcomes are measured at different time-points. The threshold for the walking speed at survival time longer than four years may be different from survival time longer than seven years. Identifying the survival time-related thresholds would yield an informative profile for investigating patient's prognosis and will also help evaluate the generalizability of single thresholds over different survival times. Previous studies have used visual inspection approach to identify the thresholds where they have calculated the event rates based on categories

of increasing walking speed (0.05 to 0.1 m/s) or percentile approach. This approach does not account for the model selection criteria and lack generalizability since the results are dependent on the population from which it is driven.

Lastly, I will focus on interventions to improve physical activity in adults after TKR. What is common in people with knee OA and people after TKR is that both groups are physically inactive (25, 54-56). There is a critical need to address physical inactivity after TKR to prevent consequences of health problems related to inactivity. People after TKR have less knee pain, yet their physical activity either remains the same or decreases compared to their physical activity pre-TKR (54-56). Therefore, there was a critical need to develop an intervention that targets physical activity, which was the foundation of our on-going clinical trial, i.e., physical therapist (PT)-led physical activity intervention after TKR at the University of Delaware. Preliminary results of the clinical trial showed that people who receive physical activity intervention were more active (i.e., walked more) compared to people who did not receive the intervention (57). However, quantifying clinical improvements in physical activity on a group level may not translate to clinical application. The improvements in physical activity following a PT-led physical activity intervention was variable. Over half of the people post TKR who received intervention did not have improvements in physical activity compared to the average improvement in the group since they remained at either the same or even lower physical activity postintervention compared to the group average. We, therefore, seek to investigate whether functional vital signs may predict improvements in physical activity following a PT-led physical activity intervention in people after TKR. It is important to explore the predictors for meaningful improvements in physical activity following

the intervention as they may identify patients for whom the probability of treatment (i.e., PT-led physical activity intervention) success is low at the time of assessment. In turn, the predictors for achieving meaningful improvements in physical activity after TKR may lay a foundation for optimizing individually tailored rehabilitation programs as it may provide an insight into what to target in rehabilitation, i.e., exercise for addressing functional limitation, limited strength, and pain rather than physical inactivity.

In summary, the purpose of this dissertation was to study the predictive value of functional vital signs, i.e., walking speed and repeated chair stands for OA-related health outcomes and poor response to PT-led physical activity intervention. The findings from this proposal will drive forward both the scientific knowledge of and treatment strategies for knee OA. Specifically, it will provide clinicians with an objective tool to quantify functional ability. This tool, in turn, can serve as a measure for not only early referral to rehabilitation but also designing patient-specific rehabilitation program. Findings from Aims 1 to 3 will provide healthcare professionals with specific cut-points on 20-m walk test and five times sit to stand test. These thresholds may aid clinical decision making by telling clinicians which patients have functional ability to have good health and be physically active, and which need further rehabilitation services to address functional limitation to achieve better health outcomes. The exploratory aim will identify subgroups of people who may respond best to PT-led physical activity intervention using regression-tree based method without defining any hypotheses for subgroups. Future studies may test the hypothesis whether targeting individuals with the same characteristics as identified in

this study may respond better to treatment compared to those who do not meet the subgroup characteristics.

1.4 Overall Objective

My long-term goal is to identify individuals with knee OA who may benefit the most from rehabilitation. The overall objective of this dissertation is to investigate if functional vital signs predict OA-related health outcomes and response to rehabilitation in adults with knee OA. In this proposal, I will focus on interventions to increase physical activity (58, 59), since over half of the adults with knee OA are physically inactive (25) and subsequently face a cascade of health problems due to inactivity (26-28, 60). The response to a physical activity intervention is not uniformly positive. My central hypothesis is that walking speed and repeated chair stands can predict OA-related health outcomes and poor response to a physical activity intervention. I formulated this hypothesis based on the prior work where walking speed (61, 62) and repeated chair stands (16) predicted the risk for poor health outcomes in older adults.

1.5 Specific Aims and hypothesis

I used an existing large OA-related dataset, the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI) to answer my research questions in Aims 1 to 3. I prospectively collected, managed, and analyze the measures of physical activity from an ongoing physical activity intervention trial at the University of Delaware (UD) in adults after TKR for the exploratory aim. The primary study exposures will be functional vital signs, i.e., 1) walking speed measured using a 20-m walk test and 2) repeated chair stands measured using a five times sit-to-stand test 3) Timed Up and Go test (TUG). The main study

outcomes will be 1) physical activity measured using accelerometers, 2) time to allcause mortality, 3) time to knee replacement (KR), and 4) response to a physical activity intervention. I will pursue the following aims to test my central hypothesis:

- Aim 1: To determine the extent to which walking speed and repeated chair stands will be associated with risk for not participating in physical activity, i.e., walking less than 6,000 steps/day in adults with knee OA. We chose this threshold because White et al. found walking ≥ 6000 steps/day better discriminates between those who did versus those who did not develop functional limitation two years later people with or at high risk of knee OA more so than walking 10,000 steps/day or 3,000 steps/day (63). (H1.1) I hypothesize that walking slowly on a 20-m walk test will be associated with increased risk for not participating in physical activity. (H1.2) I hypothesize that taking more time to complete five times sit to stand test will be associated with increased risk for not participating in physical activity.
- Aim 2: To determine the association of walking speed and repeated chair stands measured at one time-point and decline over one year with risk for all-cause mortality over 9 years.

(H2.1) I hypothesize that all the adults with knee OA who walk slower than 1.22 m/sec on a 20-m walk test will be associated with a higher risk for allcause mortality regardless of the decline in walking speed over a year compared to those who walk at least 1.22 m/sec.

(H2.2) I hypothesize that of all the adults with knee OA who walked at least 1.22 m/sec on a 20-m walk test, those who had a meaningful decline in

walking speed over one year will have a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who did not have meaningful decline over a year. (H2.3) I hypothesize that all the adults with knee OA who took >12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test will be associated with a higher risk for all-cause mortality regardless of the decline in repeated chair stands time over a year compared to those who took \leq 12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test.

(H2.4) I hypothesize that of all the adults with knee OA who took \leq 12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test, those who had a meaningful decline in repeated chair stands time over one year will have a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who did not have meaningful decline over a year.

Aim 3: To determine the optimal threshold for walking speed and repeated chair stands that discriminate those who have risk compared to those who do not have a risk for A) all-cause mortality and B) KR over 9 years. The threshold will be determined using the maximal likelihood chi-square approach. Specifically, we will run unadjusted and adjusted Cox models for different cut-points of the walking speed and then identified the model that will give the maximal chi-square value. This method is known to maximize the concordance, which is a metric used to evaluate the performance of the cut-points when there are censored endpoints. This metric is similar to maximizing the Youden index; criteria employed when using a Receiving Operating Curve (ROC) method.

Exploratory Aim: To investigate the association of physical function measures with the odds of achieving meaningful improvements in physical activity in adults after TKR who received PT-led physical activity intervention. The subgroups of people who may achieve meaningful improvements in physical activity following the intervention will be identified using regression-tree based method without defining any hypotheses for subgroups. (*H4.1*) *I hypothesize that limited performance on TUG will be associated to the*

odds of not achieving meaningful improvements in physical activity in

participants who received PT-led physical activity intervention.

Chapter 2

MINIMIUM PERFORMANCE ON CLINICAL TESTS OF PHYSICAL FUNCTION TO PREDICT WALKING 6000 STEPS/DAY IN KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS: AN OBSERVATIONAL STUDY

"This is the pre-peer reviewed version of the following article: Master, H., Thoma, L. M., Christiansen, M. B., Polakowski, E., Schmitt, L. A., & White, D. K. (2018). Minimum performance on clinical tests of physical function to predict walking 6,000 steps/day in knee osteoarthritis: an observational study. Arthritis care & research, 70(7), 1005-1011, which has been published in final form <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.23448</u>. This article may be used for non-commercial purposes in accordance with Wiley Terms and Conditions for Use of Self-Archived Versions."

2.1 Introduction

Knee osteoarthritis (OA) is the 11th highest contributor to global disability (64) and the most common cause of functional limitation in older adults (65). People with knee OA often have low levels of physical activity (7). Physical activity is defined as any energy expenditure above a resting level (7, 66). This is a major problem since regular participation in physical activity lowers the risk of developing future comorbidities, such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and cancer (26, 27). Daily walking is the most common type of unstructured physical activity in older adults (67) and is recommended for people with knee OA (68). Evidence suggests that aerobic

walking program reduces knee pain and improve physical function for people with knee OA (69-71).

For people with knee OA, a potential barrier to daily walking is difficulty with physical function (72). For example, difficulty getting out of a chair or limited walking endurance may hinder how often one walks in the real world. However, it is not known whether reduced physical function is associated with less daily walking, i.e., taking fewer steps/day. If so, this would enable the investigation of minimum values of physical function that may be necessary in order walk at a meaningful level. Little is known regarding the minimum level of physical function predictive for an active lifestyle. In particular, we are interested in identifying levels of physical function predictive to walk ≥ 6000 steps/day. We chose this threshold because we previously found walking ≥ 6000 steps/day better discriminates between those who did versus those who did not develop functional limitation two years later people with or at high risk of knee OA more so than walking 10,000 steps/day or 3,000 steps/day (63). Identifying the minimal physical function predictive to walk $\geq 6,000$ steps/day may help healthcare providers gauge when limitations in physical function may be a barrier to daily walking in the real world for people with or at high risk of knee OA.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate minimum performance thresholds on standardized clinical tests of physical function predictive of walking \geq 6000 steps/day. We first evaluated the association of physical function with daily walking, then identified levels of physical function that have a high degree of specificity to predict walking \geq 6,000 steps/day. We chose high specificity values to conservatively identify physical function levels that do not support walking \geq 6,000 steps/day by

reducing the number of false positives, i.e., people who have poor physical function yet walk \geq 6,000 steps/day.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study participants

We used publicly available data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI), a large observational prospective cohort of people with or at risk of knee OA. The OAI examines the development and progression of OA in adults with or at high risk of knee OA. Study participants were recruited from clinical sites located in Maryland, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island and Ohio. Excluded were people with rheumatoid or inflammatory arthritis, a bilateral end-stage disease defined as severe joint space narrowing or total knee replacements in both knees, and those who used ambulatory aids other than a cane. Institutional review board approval was obtained from all OAI sites. The current analysis used accelerometer data collected on a sub-cohort of participants at the 48-month follow-up visit (63).

Figure 2.1 provides a summary of the number of accelerometer records at the 48-month follow-up visit and reasons for exclusion from our analytical sample. Of the 2,127 OAI participants who participated in the accelerometer study, 1,925 participants wore the accelerometer for \geq 4 valid days and had steps/day data at the 48-month follow-up visit.


Figure 2.1: Data reduction from full OAI sample to the eligible sub-cohort of accelerometer study participants (n=2712) at 48-month follow-up.

Those who participated in the accelerometer study but were not included in the analytic dataset (n=202) had a higher BMI, were less educated, and had worse physical function compared to those included in the analytic dataset (n=1925) (Table 2.1).

	Included (N=1925)	Not included ^a (N=202)	p-value	
	Mean±sd or %(n)	Mean±sd or %(n)		
Age, years	65.1±9.1	64.1±9.5	0.14	
Women	55 (1065)	59 (119)	0.25	
Race, white	84 (1601)	66 (125)	0.0001*	
Education, more than college	66 (1266)	57 (113)	0.012*	
BMI (kg/m ²)	28.4 ± 4.8	30.2±5.2	0.0001*	
VAS pain				
Right	2.4 ± 2.6	2.6±3.0	0.24	
Left	2.3±2.6	2.4±3.0	0.76	
Comorbidity	30 (566)	36 (71)	0.051	
five times sit to stand test (sec)	10.5 ± 2.9	11.1±3.5	0.009*	
Walking speed (m/sec)	1.33±0.21	1.26 ± 0.24	0.0001*	
a - Not included – due to issues with valid days or had issues with accelerometer * - significant p-value <0.05 on independent t-test of means and proportions.				

Table 2.1:	Characteristics of participants who were and were not included in the
	study analysis.

2.2.2 Study Outcome

Daily walking was quantified as steps/day measured using a uniaxial accelerometer (Actigraph GT1M, Pensacola, FL, USA). The Actigraph GT1M is a valid device to quantify physical activity in free-living conditions (73, 74). Subjects were fitted with the accelerometer above the right hip (as shown in figure 2.2) and were instructed to wear the accelerometer during waking hours for 7 consecutive days.



Figure 2.2 A-B:Actigraph GT1M (A) and participant wearing the monitor around the waist such that the accelerometer sits on right anterior superior iliac spine (B)

We employed previously published methods to determine valid physical activity records (75). Briefly, we defined a valid wear day as ≥ 10 hours of wear time and included participants with ≥ 4 valid wear days, as this is the minimum time predictive for a reliable estimate of physical activity behavior (76). Steps/day were averaged across the available valid days. We categorized people as walking < 6000 steps/day and ≥ 6000 steps/day (63).

2.2.3 Study Exposures

Physical function.

We used two performance-based clinical tests to measure physical function.

2.2.3.1 Walking speed

The 20-meter walk test was used to calculate self-selected walking speed. Participants were instructed to walk at their usual speed over a marked 20-meter course in an unobstructed and dedicated corridor. Timing with a digital stopwatch began at the initial movement from standing at the start and stopped when they crossed the 20-meter mark. Time to complete the walk (sec) was divided by distance (20 meters) to obtain walking speed in meters/second (meters/sec). The average of two trials was recorded, with slower walking speed indicating worse physical function (61). Measuring walking speed in a walkway has high test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients > 0.9) in older adults (62, 77).

2.2.3.2 Five times sit to stand test

Five times sit to stand test was used as a correlate for lower extremity functional strength. Participants were instructed to stand from a chair (straight back, flat, level firm seat and seat height of 45cm in front) and return to sitting five times as quickly as possible with arms folded across the chest. Total time (sec) was measured with a digital stopwatch, and started with initial movement to stand on the first repetition and ended after returning to sitting on the fifth repetition. The five times sit to stand was recorded as the average of two trials. Longer time to perform the test was indicative of worse physical function. The five times sit to stand test has high testretest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients > 0.9) in older adults with symptomatic hip or knee OA (78, 79).

2.2.4 Potential Confounders

We considered the following factors as potential confounders based on their association with daily walking and physical function (42, 80, 81) : age, sex (female versus male), race/ethnicity (white versus non-white), education (no college versus at least some college), body mass index (BMI, kg/m²) computed from weight and height assessment, comorbidity using the modified Charlson comorbidity index (>1 versus none), and intensity of knee pain (0-10 on a visual analog scale (VAS) where the participant pointed to a whole number on the card that best describes the pain at its worst ranging from "0" meaning "No pain" and "10" meaning "Pain as bad as you can imagine."). These factors were ascertained at the 48-month visit by interview, questionnaire, and/or direct measurement, as appropriate.

2.2.5 Statistical Analysis

We described the study sample using means and standard deviations for continuous variables and percentages for categorical variables. To examine the association of steps/day with physical function, we calculated effect estimates using multiple linear regression adjusted for potential confounders, i.e., age, sex, BMI, race, education, knee pain intensity and comorbidity. Next, we calculated minimum performance thresholds on clinical tests of physical function corresponding to 80%, 85%, 90%, and 95% specificity values to predict walking \geq 6000 steps/day (63). Specificity was defined as the proportion of participants whose test performance was above (better than) an identified threshold and walked \geq 6000 steps/day divided by the entire analytic sample who walked \geq 6000 steps/day (Table 2.2 and equation 2.1). Table 2.2:Example 2 x 2 contingency table to illustrate how groups were identified
to calculate specificity. The italicized qualifiers for poor and good
physical function were changed iteratively to determine the specificity
over a range of performance on the clinical tests of physical function.

	Inactive	Active
	(< 6000	$(\geq 6000 \text{ steps/day})$
	steps/day)	
Poor physical function		
(five times sit to stand test in > 10 sec)	а	b
Good physical function		
(five times sit to stand test in < 10 sec)	с	d

Equation 2.1

$Specificity = \frac{d}{b+d}$ $= \frac{Number of active individuals with good physical function}{Total number of active individuals}$

To illustrate this process, consider a test value of 10 sec to complete the five times sit to stand test. Since a slower time is indicative of worse physical function on this test, those who performed the five times sit to stand test in > 10 sec were identified as poor physical function. Likewise, those who performed the test in < 10sec were identified as good physical function. We constructed a 2x2 contingency table (Table 2.3), and calculated specificity as shown in Equation 2.1. This process was repeated to determine the specificity over a range of possible performance on the clinical tests of physical function.

We chose high specificity cut points in order to minimize false-positives, i.e., minimize the number of people below minimum performance thresholds on clinical tests of physical function who walk \geq 6,000 steps/day. Hence, we identified inadequate performance on clinical tests of physical function that predicted the inability to walk > 6000 steps/day daily walking. Lastly, we repeated the analyses restricting our sample to people with radiographic OA (ROA) defined Kellgren– Lawrence (KL) grade ≥ 2 on x-ray in one or both knees, and people with symptomatic OA (SxOA) defined by the presence of ROA and pain, aching, or stiffness on most days of a month during the previous year. Our intention with these sub-analyses was to investigate the stability of our findings across samples of people with ROA and SxOA because the presence of knee OA and/or symptoms may affect the participation in daily walking and physical functioning (72)

2.3 Results

Table 2.3 displays the characteristics of the study participants that were included in the analytic study sample. The analytic study sample included 1925 people who were 65.1 ± 9.1 years of age (mean \pm sd) with a BMI 28.4 \pm 4.8 kg/m². Over half were women (55%), the majority (84%) were white, and 66% graduated from high school (Table 2.2). On average, the participants walked 6166 \pm 2924 steps/day, with 54% of the study sample walking \geq 6000 steps/day. Average performance on the clinical tests of physical function were 1.33 \pm 0.21 meters/sec for walking speed over 20-meter walk test or 10.5 \pm 2.9 sec on the five times sit to stand test.

	All (N=1925)	ROA (N=1169)	SxOA (N=511)	
	100% of sample	60.7% of sample	26.5% of sample	
	Mean \pm sd or % (n)	Mean \pm sd or % (n)	Mean±sd or %	
			(n)	
Age, years	65.1±9.1	66.1±9.1	65.6 ± 8.9	
Women	55 (1065)	55 (641)	54 (274)	
Race, white	84 (1601)	81 (937)	78 (394)	
Education, more than	66 (1266)	64 (746)	62 (318)	
college				
BMI (kg/m2)	28.4 ± 4.8	29.1±4.8 (1166)	29.7±4.7	
VAS pain				
Right	2.4±2.6	2.7±2.7	3.9±2.9	
Left	2.3±2.6	2.6±2.7	$4.0{\pm}2.8$	
Comorbidity	30	31 (364)	35 (177)	
Steps/day	6166±2924	5883±2821	5564±2778	
Walked ≥ 6000	45 (868)	42 (491)	40 (203)	
steps/day				
Walking speed	1.33±0.21	1.31±0.21	1.28 ± 0.21	
(m/sec)				
Five times sit to stand	10.5 ± 2.9	10.8 ± 3.0	11.4 ± 3.4	
test (sec)				
ROA= radiographic OA SxOA= Symptomatic OA, BMI = body mass index, VAS =				
visual analog scale				

 Table 2.3:
 Characteristics of study participants

Worse performance on clinical tests of physical function was associated with taking fewer steps/day after adjustment for potential confounders (Table 2.4). Walking 0.1 meters/sec slower during the 20-meter walk test was associated with walking 342 fewer steps/day (95% CI [-276, -408]). Each additional 1 sec to complete the five sit to stand test was associated with walking 130 fewer steps/day (95% CI [-178, -83]).

Table 2.4:Unadjusted and *adjusted performance of physical function tests with
steps/day using linear regression models.

Physical function	Steps/day (95% CI)	*Adjusted Steps/day (95%CI)		
Walking speed (0.1 m/sec slower)	-569 (-510, -628)	-342 (-276, -408)		
Five times sit to stand test (1 sec longer)	-261 (-307, -215)	-130 (-178, -83)		
*Adjusted for age, sex, education, race, BMI, pain and Charlson comorbidity index.				

Performance on the clinical tests of physical function corresponding to 80% to 95% specificity to identify those who walked \geq 6000 steps/day ranged from 1.13 to 1.26 meters/sec for walking speed, or 11.4 to 14.0 sec on the five times sit to stand (Figure 2.2). After restricting our study sample to participants with ROA, we observed that the thresholds for performance on the clinical tests of physical function to identify those who walked \geq 6000 steps/day were almost identical to the full sample (Figure 2.2). When restricted to participants with SxOA, we observed that 80 to 95% specificity thresholds of performance on physical function tests ranged from 1.10 to 1.22 meters/sec for walking speed, or 12.4 to 15.0 sec on the five times sit to stand test (Figure 2.3).



* Specificity was defined as the proportion of people who had less than threshold values of physical function and who walked ≥ 6000 steps/day divided by the proportion of people who walked ≥ 6000 steps/day.

Figure 2.3: Physical function measures that reflect 80, 85, 90 and 95% specificity* in all, ROA and SxOA participants

2.4 Discussion

In general, we identified preliminary performance thresholds on clinical tests of physical function predictive to walk \geq 6,000 steps/day for people with or at high risk of knee OA. Specifically, walking more than 1.13 to 1.26 meters/sec, or completing the five times sit to stand test in less than 11.4 to 14 sec corresponds to 80-95% specificity values to predict walking \geq 6,000 steps/day. Study subjects who are unable to meet any one of these thresholds may have an insufficient physical function to participate in walking more than 6,000 steps/day. We found these thresholds to be similar when analyses were restricted to those with ROA and SxOA. Previous work by White and his colleagues has found similar physical activity cut points across all, ROA and SxOA participants when predicting functional limitation (63). This indicates that people with or at high risk of knee OA can be similarly screened for insufficient physical function to walk 6000 steps/day.

Walking speed is a well-established marker of health, a predictor of morbidity and mortality in older adults (15), and is feasible to test in the clinic (82). 80% specificity thresholds for the 20-meter walk test were 1.26, 1.25 and 1.22 meters/sec for all, ROA and SxOA participants respectively. There was the variability of approximately 0.04 meters/sec among all and SxOA participants, which is not a clinically meaningful difference (i.e. 0.08 meters/sec) (83). Therefore, walking slower than 1.22 meters/sec during 20-meter walk test, a general heuristic (i.e., guiding) value that can be used in clinical practice, may identify people without the capacity to walk \geq 6,000 steps/day. This particular speed threshold is known to be important for community ambulation, as timed crosswalks are set to require a minimum speed of 1.22 meters/sec (51, 61). Hence, the inability to walk at this speed may represent the inability to walk in the community safely. Impairments in several body systems can slow walking speed (84), including vision, lower extremity strength (85, 86), aerobic capacity(87), postural control and proprioception (86), and can also restrict daily walking (15).

The five times sit to stand test is a practical objective assessment of functional lower extremity strength that is feasible for use by health professionals. The test requires a chair and stopwatch, can be done in a doctor's office, and has minimal risk of injury as patients simply stand from a chair. 80% specificity thresholds for the sit-to-stand test were 11.4, 11.6 and 12.4 sec for all, ROA and SxOA participants respectively. There was the variability of approximately 1 sec among all and SxOA participants, which is not a clinically meaningful difference (i.e. 2.3 sec) (88).

Therefore, taking longer than 12 sec to complete the five times sit to stand test, a general heuristic (i.e., guiding) value that can be used in clinical practice, may indicate inadequate physical function to walk ≥ 6000 steps/day. Similar thresholds have been reported in the literature in other populations (16, 78, 89-91). For instance, community-dwelling older adults who took more than 12 sec to complete the five times sit to stand test had double (OR = 2.0, 95%CI (1.3, 3.0)) the risk for multiple falls compared with those who took < 12 sec to complete the test (16). This test requires the use of lower body muscle groups, including knee and hip extensors, hip, knee and ankle range of motion and maintaining balance transitioning from sitting to stand (92). Poor performance, i.e., requiring greater time to complete the test, may reflect the presence of impairments including lower body pain, inadequate lower body muscle strength, poor balance or coordination deficits, which also can limit daily walking.

2.4.1 Limitations

Our study has several limitations. First, we employed only one definition of daily walking, i.e., 6000 steps/day, and did not examine thresholds of different intensities of physical activity, such as time spent in light, moderate or vigorous intensity activity. Future studies should consider intensity-based outcomes to confirm the extent to which our physical function thresholds also apply to time spent in moderate or vigorous intensity activity. Second, most of our sample was white, well educated, had a low BMI, and performed better on the physical function tests compared to those who participated in the accelerometer study but did not provide sufficient valid data (Table 2.1). Thus, caution should be taken when generalizing these results to other populations. Third, the cross-sectional design allowed us to

identify a relationship between physical function and physical activity, but not to draw conclusions about causation. Lastly, there is a possibility that study subjects chose to not participate in daily walking irrespective of their physical function ability possibly due to psychosocial barriers. Hence the physical function threshold values should be viewed as estimates that have some variability.

2.4.2 Strengths

Despite these limitations, our study has several strengths. First, we used a large analytic sample with objectively measured physical activity from a well-established cohort. Second, we selected thresholds of physical function that minimized false positives, i.e. people with knee OA who did not meet performance thresholds were highly unlikely to walk \geq 6000 steps/day. Third, we established performance thresholds using clinically feasible measures of physical function that clinicians can employ in the real world.

2.4.3 Clinical Implication

One possible implication of our study is referral to rehabilitation, such as physical therapy, may be of benefit to those with or at risk of knee OA not meeting one or more of these physical function thresholds. Physical therapists assess underlying modifiable impairments that limit physical function, including pain, muscular strength, range of motion, limited cardiorespiratory fitness, and coordination, then use therapeutic exercise and manual techniques to target underlying impairments(93). These interventions that are employed by physical therapists are effective to improve physical function in people with knee OA (21, 94).

2.5 Conclusion

We identified preliminary thresholds for performance on clinical tests of physical function that may indicate inadequate physical ability to walk at least 6,000 steps/day, which is an important benchmark we previously found to be associated with protection against the development of future functional limitation. Clinicians may consider prioritizing referral to rehabilitation to improve physical function for people with knee OA that are unable to meet these minimum thresholds.

Chapter 3

THE RELATION OF PHYSICAL FUNCTION MEASURED AT ONE TIME-POINT VERSUS CHANGE OVER ONE YEAR TO ALL-CAUSE MORTALITY.

3.1 Introduction

Over 250 million people worldwide have knee osteoarthritis (OA) (2), which is a leading cause of pain and functional limitation (3, 4, 6), e.g., difficulty getting up from a chair or slow walking. Subsequently, people with knee OA are 55 to 90% more likely to die earlier compared to the general population (10, 11, 95). OA has no cure. Therefore, management strategies, such as rehabilitation, focus on reducing pain and functional limitation (19-21, 96). However, only one in four people with knee OA are referred to rehabilitation (22, 23, 97, 98). Determining who may be in need of referral to rehabilitation is an important area of investigation. Performance-based physical function measures such as walking speed (15, 51, 62, 77, 82, 99) and repeated chair stands (78, 79) are key measures of functional limitation, and by extension be employed to identify the need for rehabilitation for people with knee OA.

The collection of physical function at the initial evaluation may be feasible since this evaluation is comprehensive in nature. This kind of assessment has a limitation since physical function decline with age (46-49) and not all decline is uniform. Rather, there are different rates or trajectories of change in physical function, i.e., some decline quickly, while others' are stable or decline gradually. Moreover, we know that those with a fast decline in walking speed and repeated chair stands have

90% (50) and 27% (100) greater risk of all-cause mortality, respectively, compared with those who experienced a slow decline over time. Further worsening in physical functioning is known to increase the risk of cardiovascular diseases (101). Hence, capturing those with fast decline is important to identify people at risk for adverse health outcomes.

There are several caveats for repeated assessment of physical function over time. First, most health professionals do not measure physical function in a standardized fashion as part of the routine clinical examination for knee OA. Barriers for repeated assessment include time, physical space, and equipment. Second, individuals having similar physical functioning in the present may have had different histories of trajectories of decline, i.e., some may have experienced rapid decline while others may remain relatively stable. It is unclear whether testing the history of physical function decline is more informative in determining mortality risk, or if slow physical functioning at one time-point that portends mortality risk. In other words, we do not know how comparable the predictive validity of physical function measured at one time-point is to repeated measures over time for mortality risk.

Clarifying the predictive validity of one versus repeated assessments of a physical function for mortality is important as it will elucidate whether assessing prevalent physical function at one time is a reasonable substitute for repeated measures. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate whether physical function measured at one time or change over time or both predict the risk for all-cause mortality over nine years in adults with knee OA.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study Participants: the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI)

We used data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative, a large prospective observational cohort study of 4796 people with or at risk of knee OA. People were excluded from OAI study if they had rheumatoid or inflammatory arthritis, bilateral end-stage disease defined as severe joint space narrowing or total knee replacements in both knees, and those who used ambulatory aids other than a cane at baseline. Institutional review board approval was obtained from all OAI sites. The current analysis included data from participants who completed baseline and 12-month follow-up clinic visit conducted between 2004-2006 and 2005-2007 respectively.

3.2.2 Study Outcome

Time to all-cause mortality was quantified in months from the 12-month clinic visit to the date of death through the 108-month clinic visit, i.e., 9 years later. The date of death was confirmed through obituary or death certificates when available. We censored participants who lived past the study period or who were lost to follow-up during the 9-year study period.

3.2.3 Study exposure

3.2.3.1 Walking speed

The 20-meter (20-m) walk test was to calculate self-selected walking speed at baseline and 12-month follow-up clinic visit. During the 20-m walk test, the participants were instructed to walk at their usual speed over a marked 20-m course in an unobstructed and dedicated corridor. A digital stopwatch was used to record the timing to complete the test. The timing began at the initial movement from standing at

the start and stopped when they crossed the 20-m mark. Walking speed in meters/second was calculated by dividing the total distance (20 meters) by the total time to complete the 20-m walk (sec). Slower walking speed indicates worse physical function (61). The 20-m walk test has high test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients > 0.9) for measuring walking speed in older adults (62, 77).

We choose cut-point of < 1.22 m/sec at the 12-month follow-up to identify people with slow walking speed because it indicates difficulty crossing the streets using timed signals (51) and is predictive of inadequate physical function necessary to be physically active (52). The decline in walking speed was calculated by subtracting walking speed at the 12-month follow-up visit from baseline walking speed. Adults with knee OA were categorized as having a one-year decline in their walking speed if they declined \geq 0.08 m/sec from baseline to one year, which represents a clinically meaningful decline (83, 102).

We classified study subjects into one of four combinations of 12-month follow-up walking speed and change in walking speed over one year. The first category was 'fast sustainers,' which include those whose walking speed was ≥ 1.22 m/sec, at 12-month follow-up visit and had < 0.08 m/s decline in walking speed over one year. The second category was 'slow sustainers,' which was defined as those whose walking speed was <1.22 m/sec and had <0.08 m/sec decline in walking speed over one year. Thus, slow sustainers had slower walking speed at 12-month follow-up but had a similar decline in walking speed over one year compared to fast sustainers. The third category was 'fast decliners,' which was defined as those walking speed was ≥ 1.22 m/sec at a 12-month follow-up visit and had ≥ 0.08 m/sec decline in walking speed was ≥ 1.22 m/sec at a 12-month follow-up visit and had ≥ 0.08 m/sec decline in walking speed was ≥ 1.22 m/sec at a 12-month follow-up visit and had ≥ 0.08 m/sec decline in walking speed over one year. Thus, fast decliners had similar walking speed at 12-

month follow-up visit but had more decline in walking speed over one year compared to fast sustainers. The fourth category was 'slow decliners,' which was defined as those whose walking speed at 12-month follow-up visit was < 1.22 m/sec and had \geq 0.08 m/sec decline in walking speed over a year. Thus, slow decliners not only had a slower walking speed but also had more decline in walking speed over a year compared to fast sustainers.

3.2.3.2 Repeated chair stands time

The five times sit-to-stand test was to calculate repeated chair stands function at baseline and 12-month follow-up clinic visit. During five times sit to stand test, the participants were instructed to stand up from a seated position in a standard chair (chair with a straight back, flat, level firm seat and seat height of 45cm in front) and return to sitting five times as quickly as possible with arms folded across the chest. A digital stopwatch was used to record the total time (sec) to complete five times sit to stand test. The timing started with the initial movement to stand on the first repetition and ended after returning to sitting on the fifth repetition. Performance on the five times sit to stand test was recorded as the average of two trials. A longer time to complete five times sit to stand test was indicative of worse physical function (78). 5STS has high test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients > 0.9) for measuring repeated chair stand function in older adults with symptomatic hip and/or knee OA (79).

We choose cut-point of ≥ 12 sec at the 12-month follow-up to identify people with slow repeated chair stands time because it indicates risk for multiple falls in older adults(16) and inability to be physically active in knee OA (52). The one-year decline in repeated chair stands was calculated by subtracting time taken to complete five

times sit to stand test at 12-month follow-up visit from the baseline time. Adults with knee OA were categorized as having a one-year decline in repeated chair stands time if they declined > 2.3 sec from baseline to one year, which represents the clinically meaningful difference in repeated chair stands time (88).

We classified study subjects into one of four combinations of 12-month follow-up repeated chair stands and change in repeated chair stands time over one year. The first category was 'fast sustainers,' which include those whose repeated chair stands time was < 12 sec at 12-month follow-up and had ≤ 2.3 sec decline in repeated chair stands time over one year. The second category was 'slow sustainers,' which include those whose repeated chair stands time was ≥ 12 sec at 12-month follow-up and had ≤ 2.3 sec decline in repeated chair stands time over a year. Thus, slow sustainers took more time to complete five times sit to stand test but had a similar decline in repeated chair stands time compared to fast sustainers. The third category was 'fast decliners,' which include those whose repeated chair stands time was < 12sec at a 12-month follow-up visit and had >2.3 sec decline in repeated chair stands time over one year. Thus, fast decliners took a similar time to complete five times sit to stand test at 12-month follow-up visit but had more decline in repeated chair stands over one year compared to fast sustainers. The fourth category was 'slow decliners,' which include those whose repeated chair stands time was > 12 sec at a 12-month follow-up visit and had a one-year decline in repeated chair stands time. Thus, slow decliners took more time to complete five times sit to stand test and had a more oneyear decline in repeated chair stands time compared to fast sustainers.

3.2.4 Potential confounders

We considered the following factors as potential confounders based on their association with performance-based physical function measures and all-cause mortality(51, 103-107): Age, sex (female versus male), race/ethnicity (white versus non-white), education (less than college graduate versus at least college graduate), body mass index (BMI, kg/m²) computed from weight and height assessment, comorbidities measured using the modified Charlson comorbidity index (108), depressive symptoms measured using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (> versus <16) (109), symptomatic knee OA (SxOA), which was defined as presence of knee pain, aching or stiffness on most days in past month during the previous year in either right or left knee and the presence of radiographic knee OA, which was defined as Kellgren–Lawrence grade ≥ 2 on x-ray in one or both knees (present versus absent). These factors were ascertained at the study enrollment or 12-month visit by interview, questionnaire, and/or direct measurement, as appropriate.

3.2.5 Statistical Analysis

We described the study sample using means and standard deviations for continuous variables and percentages for categorical variables. We used the Kaplan-Meier survival curves to determine the mortality rate for each of the categories of the physical function measured at the one-time point and change over one year within exposure categories, i.e., fast sustainers, slow sustainers, fast decliners and slow decliners. To examine the association of walking speed and change in walking speed with all-cause mortality over 9 years, we calculated hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals [HR (95%CI)] from Cox regression model adjusted for potential

confounders. To examine the association of repeated chair stands time and change in repeated chairs time with all-cause mortality over 9 years, we calculated hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals [HR (95%CI)] from Cox regression model adjusted for potential confounders. All analyses were performed using SAS, version 9.4 (Cary, NC).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Walking speed

Of 4796 participants recruited for the study, 4,229 participants have completed 20-m walk test at baseline and 12-month follow-up visit. Table 3.1 displays the subject characteristics who were included in the analytical sample.

Characteristics	Mean±sd or % (n)
Total sample	4229
Age, years	62.3±9.2(4229)
Women	57.6 (2437)
Race, white	81.3(3438)
Education, at least college grad	61.5(2600)
BMI (kg/m2)	28.5±4.8(4208)
Presence of knee pain, aching or stiffness: more	
than half the days of a month, past 12 months	
Right	29.7(1252)
Left	29.2(1229)
Index knee	39.8(1679)
Comorbidities	0.4±0.8(4185)
Depression	10.1(426)
ROA	56.6(2394)
SxOA	27.1(1146)
Baseline Walking speed (m/sec)	1.33±0.22(4229)
1-yr Walking speed (m/sec)	1.34±0.22(4229)
Time in the study, months	111.3±37.6(4229)
Number of deaths	6.4(270)

Table 3.1:Characteristics of study participants who completed 20-m walk test at
baseline and 12-month follow-up visit (N=4229)

The average age was 62.3 ± 9.2 years (mean \pm sd), BMI 28.5 ± 4.8 kg/m², over half were women (57.6%), the majority (81.3%) were white, and 61.5% were at least a college graduate. Over 6% of the analytic sample (270/4229) died over 9 years. The survival probability of 9-year follow-up was 95%, 85%, 96% and 85% for participants in fast sustainers, slow sustainers, fast decliners and slow decliners, respectively (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1: Kaplan-Meier survival curves for adults with knee OA who are defined as fast sustainers, slow sustainers, fast decliners and slow decliners using a 20-m walk test.

Slow sustainers had 96% more risk (adjusted HR 1.96 [1.44, 2.66]) and slow decliners had 108% more risk (adjusted HR 2.08 [1.46, 2.96]) for all-cause mortality compared with the fast sustainers (Table 3.2). Fast decliners had a lesser risk for all-cause mortality compared with the fast sustainers, which did not meet statistical significance (adjusted HR 0.57 [0.32, 1.01]).

	Baseline Walking speed Mean±SD	12-month follow-up Walking speed Mean±SD	Deaths %(n)	Time in the study, months Mean±SD	Unadjusted HR (95% CI)	*Adjusted HR (95% CI)
Slow decliners (N=439)	1.24±0.15	1.06±0.15	11.6 (51)	102.2±43.2	2.88 [2.07, 4.00]	2.08 [1.46, 2.96]
Fast decliners (N=532)	1.56±0.16	1.41±0.14	2.8 (15)	113.8±36.5	0.61 [0.34, 1.05]	0.57 [0.32, 1.01]
Slow sustainers (N=751)	1.07±0.14	1.1±0.11	11.7 (88)	105.0±40.3	2.79 [2.12, 3.69]	1.96 [1.44, 2.66]
Fast sustainers (N=2507)	1.38±0.17	1.45±0.16	4.6 (116)	114.3±35.4	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]
*Adjusted for baseline age, BMI, sex, race, education, comorbidities, the presence of depression (< vs. >16), and SxOA, i.e., ROA + pain						

Table 3.2:Association of walking speed and change in walking speed over a year to
the risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years among all the study
participants

3.3.2 Repeated chair stands

Of 4796 participants recruited for the study, 3,754 participants have completed five times sit to stand test at baseline and 12-month follow-up visit. The average age was 61.9 ± 9.1 years (mean \pm sd), BMI 28.4 \pm 4.8 kg/m², over half were women (57.1%), the majority (82.1%) were white, and 62.3% were at least a college graduate. Over 6% of the analytic sample (223/3754) died over 9 years. (Table 3.3).

Characteristics	Mean±sd or % (n)
Total sample	
Age, years	61.9±9.1
Women	57.1
Race, white	82.1(3080)
Education, at least college grad	62.3(2339)
BMI (kg/m2)	28.4 ± 4.8
Presence of knee pain, aching or stiffness: more	
than half the days of a month, past 12 months	
Right	28.0(1049)
Left	27.3(1021)
Index knee	37.6(1409)
Comorbidities	$0.4{\pm}0.8$
Depression	9.4(351)
ROA	55.1(2069)
SxOA	25.2(944)
Baseline Walking speed (m/sec)	11.15 ± 3.36
1-yr Walking speed (m/sec)	10.89 ± 3.3
Time in the study, months	112.0 ± 36.88
Number of deaths	5.9(223)

Table 3.3:Characteristics of study participants who completed five times sit to stand
test walk test at baseline and 12-month follow-up visit (N=3754)

The survival probability of 9-year follow-up was 94%, 89%, 95% and 89% for participants in fast sustainers, slow sustainers, fast decliners and slow decliners, respectively (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Kaplan-Meier survival curves for adults with knee OA who are defined as fast sustainers, slow sustainers, fast decliners and slow decliners using five times sit to stand test.

Slow sustainers had 94% more risk (unadjusted HR 1.94 [1.45, 2.60]) and slow decliners had 90% more risk (unadjusted HR 1.90 [1.25, 2.88]) for all-cause mortality compared with the fast sustainers. (Table 3.4). These effect estimates were attenuated and did not meet statistical significance when adjusted for potential confounders. Fast decliners had a lesser risk for all-cause mortality compared with the fast sustainers, which did not meet statistical significance (unadjusted HR 0.96 [0.39, 2.33]).

Table 3.4:	Association of repeated chair stands time and change in repeated chair
	time over a prior year to the risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years
	among all the study participants

	Baseline Walking speed Mean±SD	12-month follow-up Walking speed Mean±SD	Deaths %(n)	Time in the study, months Mean±SD	Unadjusted HR (95% CI)	*Adjusted HR (95% CI)
Slow decliners (N=322)	11.78±2.97	16.19±4.36	11.4 (40)	106.1±41.7	1.89 [1.25, 2.88]	1.32 [0.85, 2.07]
Fast decliners (N=111)	7.68±1.10	10.7±0.91	2.7 (13)	113.0±35.3	0.96 [0.39, 2.33]	0.90 [0.37, 2.20]
Slow sustainers (N=784)	14.88±3.59	14.05±2.31	11.0 (66)	108.6±39.2	1.94 [1.45, 2.60]	1.24 [0.90, 1.70]
Fast sustainers (N=2537)	10.06±2.34	9.25±1.62	4.5 (104)	113.7±35.4	1.00 [Reference]	1.00 [Reference]
*Adjusted for baseline age, BMI, sex, race, education, comorbidities, the presence of depression (< vs. >16), and SxOA, i.e., ROA + pain						

3.4 Discussion

We found people with or at risk of knee OA who had a poor physical function at one time-point were at risk for all-cause mortality over 9 years irrespective of how much decline they had over previous year. These findings are robust as the results were consistent with both the definition of physical function measures. Our findings suggested that walking speed and repeated char stands time measured at one timepoint may be more important than assessing a one-year decline for predicting the risk for all-cause mortality over 9 years in adults with knee OA. However, our findings for repeated chair stands time did not meet statistical significance. Our findings highlighting the importance of physical function measures assessed at one time-point is consistent with previous literature. Walking speed is considered as a functional vital sign because it is a strong predictor for adverse health outcomes, i.e., mortality and prolonged hospitalization in older adults (15, 51, 82, 99) and poor response to rehabilitation in adults after stroke (82, 110). Slow walking speed reflects impairments in several body systems (84), i.e., vision, lower extremity strength (85, 86), aerobic capacity (87), postural control (86), and restrict daily walking (52).

One caveat for implementing walking speed in practice is that a clinic needs to maintain at least 5 to 10 meters dedicated straight path for valid walking speed assessment (111), which may limit feasibility in real-world clinics. Our study findings suggest that repeated chair stands time may be an acceptable alternative to walking speed for predicting all-cause mortality in adults with knee OA. Further, repeated chair stands time can be easily measured in the doctor's office using a valid objective test, i.e., five times sit to stand test (78, 79). However, it is important to note that this finding did not meet statistical significance when we adjusted for potential confounders. Our adjusted model indicates that baseline comorbidities and age primarily explained the joint association of repeated chair stands time measured at one time-point versus change over one year with the risk for all-cause mortality.

We found the people with or at risk of knee OA who were well-functioning in the present but had a meaningful decline in physical function over a year did not have a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who did not have meaningful decline over a year. This finding is somewhat inconsistent with previous studies that showed people who had a fast decline in walking speed, and repeated chair stands time

had 90% (50) and 27% (100) greater risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who had a slow decline, respectively and increased risk for cardiovascular disease (101). It is important to note that White and co-authors found among all the older adults who walked at least 1.22 m/sec at baseline, those who experience fast, moderate and slow decline over 3 years walked slower than 1.2 m/sec, faster than 1.2 m/sec and faster than 1.4 m/sec at 3-year follow-up, respectively (50). Among these three categories, only those older adults who experienced a fast decline had increased risk for all-cause mortality compared to slow decline. Older adults with moderate decline did not have a significantly higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to slow decline. This finding suggests that older adults whose walking speed at 3-year followup were below the threshold predictive of poor health outcomes had a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those whose walking speed was above the threshold. This finding is consistent with our study. We observed among people with or at risk of knee OA who had a meaningful decline in physical function over a year but their present physical functioning was above the threshold predictive of poor health outcomes did not have a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who did not experience a meaningful decline. On the other hand, people with knee OA did not have a meaningful decline in physical function over a year, but their current physical functioning was poor, i.e., below the threshold predictive of poor health outcomes had an increased risk for all-cause mortality. Our findings suggest that threshold effect at one time-point may be more portend compared to an absolute decline in walking speed over one year for mortality risk.

3.4.1 Strengths and limitations

The major strength of our study is that we used large dataset and 9-year follow-up, which provides a powerful means to study our primary research questions. However, our study had some limitations. First, there was a differential loss to follow-up, for example, people with knee OA whose walking speed was <1.22 m/sec experienced most loss to follow-up compared to those whose walking speed was \geq 1.22 m/sec. Second, we caution generalizing the results of our study, since the majority of our sample was white and at least college graduates. Third, we did not account for intercurrent events such as hospitalization, knee replacement, which occurred during the follow-up. We believe understanding how such events alter the joint association of the physical function measured at one time-point and decline over a year with the risk of all-cause mortality is important and needed to study in future research. Lastly, walking speed was measured using a 20-m walk test. Therefore, we are not able to generalize the study findings to walking speeds taken over shorter or longer distances.

3.4.2 Clinical implications

Our study has several clinical implications. First, clinicians should consider measuring physical function at one time-point since it predicts risk for all-cause mortality. Further, performances on the physical function measured at one time-point may aid in clinical decision making by telling clinicians, which patients with knee OA may need rehabilitation to address functional limitation. Specifically, walking speed slower than 1.22 m/sec or taking more than 12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test may serve a threshold to refer to rehabilitation for patients with or at risk of knee OA. Second, when possible, health care professional should prefer assessing walking

speed in their clinic to identify adults with knee OA who have functional limitation severe enough that would warrant a referral to rehabilitation since it has stronger predictive validity compared to repeated chair stands.

3.5 Conclusion

In people with or at risk for knee OA, we found assessing performance-based physical function measure at a one-time point is predictive for all-cause mortality, irrespective of decline in the performance over one year. Specifically, we found walking speed to have stronger predictive validity compared to repeated chair stands time. Healthcare professionals should consider assessing walking speed in routine clinical practice. Walking slower than 1.22 m/sec on a 20-m walk test at a one-time point is sufficient to identify adults with knee OA who have an increased risk for all-cause mortality and may serve a threshold to refer to rehabilitation.

Chapter 4

OPTIMAL THRESHOLDS OF PHYSICAL FUNCTION MEASURE PREDICTIVE OF ALL-CAUSE MORTALITY AND KNEE REPLACEMENT IN KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS: AN OBSERVATIONAL STUDY

4.1 Introduction

Over 250 million people worldwide have knee osteoarthritis (OA) (2), which has no cure. Knee OA is a leading cause of functional limitation such as difficulty walking and getting up from a chair (3-6), which can be addressed by rehabilitation(19-21). However, less than 14 to 60% of people with knee OA receive rehabilitation (22, 23, 97, 98). One reason for this low referral may be physicians are unsure when to refer people with knee OA to rehabilitation. One way to identify if people with knee OA have functional limitation severe enough that would warrant a referral to rehabilitation.people who need rehabilitation is to used performance-based physical function measures such as walking speed (62, 77) and repeated chair stands time(78, 79) since it can track the functional status of people with knee OA.

Presence of self-reported walking difficulty is strongly associated to increased risk for mortality in adults with knee OA (9-11). However, different individuals can perceive walking difficulty differently. One way to translate this concept clinically is to quantify the walking difficulty. Performance-based physical function measure such as walking speed can act as a marker for walking difficulty. Previous studies have reported that slow walking speed is a strong predictor of adverse health outcomes and all-cause mortality in well-functioning older adults (aged >65 years) (15, 51). Walking

slower than 1.0 m/sec increases the risk for all-cause mortality in well-functioning older adults (15) while walking at least 1.22 m/sec is the minimum speed needed to cross streets using timed signals(51). In addition, performance-based physical function measure such as limited repeated chair stands time is a well-established predictor of adverse health outcomes in well-functioning older adults (16, 103, 112, 113) and may be used as a surrogate marker for walking difficulty. Community-dwelling older adults who take more than 12 sec to complete five times sit-to-stand task have a higher risk for multiple falls (16) while those who take more than 17 sec for the same task are at a higher risk for mortality and persistent severe lower extremity limitation (103). At present, we do not know if similar thresholds can be applied to identify poor walking speed and limited repeated chair stands time that predicts the risk of OA-related health outcomes for the following reasons.

First, not all adults with knee OA are older adults, i.e., there are younger adults aged between 45 to 65 years who have knee OA. These younger adults with knee OA also report pain, functional limitation. Further, 38% of people who elected total knee replacement in the United States were younger, i.e., aged less than 65 years (114). The risk for all-cause mortality in younger adults with knee OA should not be discounted given they have a pre-existing functional limitation. Second, to the best of the knowledge, no studies to date, have investigated the predictive value of walking speed and repeated chair stands time for knee replacement (KR) risk. Third, people with knee OA are 55 to 90% more likely for early all-cause mortality compared to the general population (10, 11). 59 to 87% of people with OA have at least one other significant chronic condition such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and hypertension (115). Further, adults with knee OA have pain and pre-existing

functional limitation (116), which likely limits the ability to be active (52). Being inactive leads to poor fitness and cascade of health consequences (28) including increased risk for KR (117) and all-cause mortality (29).

Lastly, previous methods to identify walking speed thresholds predictive of allcause mortality have treated death without considering censoring, i.e., we do not have information whether the event occurred or not outside the study period or in those who were lost to follow-up during the study period. Accounting for time-to-event and accounting for censoring provides critical information about the time at risk, especially when the outcomes are measured at different time-points. For example, the threshold for the walking speed at survival time longer than 4 years may be different from survival time longer than 7 years. Therefore, analyses developed to identify optimal thresholds for uncensored binary outcomes would need to be modified. Sima and Gönen (53) consider several techniques modifying receiver operating curves (ROC)-based methods and test-based methods for this purpose. Based on their simulation studies, they recommend the use of an approach maximizing the likelihood ratio test for selection of the optimal threshold. This approach is sensitive compared to traditional ROC for identifying an optimal threshold, specifically when the time to allcause mortality and KR is important for the prognosis. Identifying a survival timerelated threshold would yield an informative profile for investigating patient's prognosis and will also help evaluate the generalizability of a single threshold that takes into account time-to-event and censoring. Some studies have used visual inspection approach to identify the threshold where they have calculated the event rates based on categories of increasing walking speed (0.05 to 0.1 m/s) or percentile approach. These approaches do not account for the model selection criteria and lack

generalizability since the results are dependent on the population from which it is driven.

Identifying the specific level of walking speed and repeated chair stands time predictive for KR and all-cause mortality in both older and younger adults with knee OA is important as it provides valuable information that can be applied clinically to identify the risk profile of the patients. Further, the threshold may not only serve as an indicator to refer patients with or at risk for knee OA to rehabilitation but also provide a target for the interventions that promote physical functioning and general well-being. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine the association of walking speed, and repeated chair stands time with KR and all-cause mortality in adults with or high risk of knee OA. We also investigated this association separately in older and younger adults with or at high risk of knee OA to test the generalizability of the findings given the age adults with knee OA could range from as young as 45 years to older than 65 years, which could confound the association. We will also examine the specific threshold of the walking speed, and repeated chair stands time that will discriminate people who have versus who do not have a risk for KR and all-cause mortality.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Study Participants: the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI)

We used data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative, a large prospective observational cohort study of 4,796 people with or at risk of knee OA. OAI excluded people with rheumatoid or inflammatory arthritis, bilateral end-stage disease defined as severe joint space narrowing or total knee replacements in both knees, and those who used ambulatory aids other than a cane at baseline. Institutional review board
approval was obtained from all OAI sites. The current analysis included data from participants who completed the baseline assessment of performance-based physical function measures conducted between 2004-2006.

4.2.2 Study Outcome

4.2.2.1 All-cause mortality

Time to all-cause mortality was quantified in months from baseline visit to the date of death through the 108-month clinic visit. The date for death was confirmed through from adjudicated obituary or death certificates when available. We censored participants who survived at the 108-month visit or who were lost to follow-up during the 9-year study period.

4.2.2.2 KR.

Time to KR was quantified in months from the baseline visit to the date of KR through the 108-month clinic visit. The date for KR was confirmed through adjudicated medical records when available. We censored participants without KR at the 108-month visit, or who were lost to follow-up, or died during the 9-year study period.

4.2.3 Study exposure

4.2.3.1 Walking speed

The 20-m walk test was to calculate the self-selected walking speed at the baseline visit. During the 20-m walk test, the participants were instructed to walk at their usual speed over a marked 20-m course in an unobstructed and dedicated corridor. A digital stopwatch was used to record the timing to complete the test. The

timing began at the initial movement from standing at the start and stopped when they crossed the 20-m mark. Walking speed in meters/second was calculated by dividing the total distance (20 meters) by the total time to complete the 20-m walk (sec). Slower walking speed indicates worse physical function (61). 20-m walk test has high test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients > 0.9) for measuring walking speed in older adults (62, 77).

4.2.3.2 Repeated chair stands time

The five times sit-to-stand test was to calculate repeated chair stands function at baseline. During five times sit to stand test, the participants were instructed to stand up from a seated position in a standard chair (chair with a straight back, flat, level firm seat and seat height of 45cm in front) and return to sitting five times as quickly as possible with arms folded across the chest. A digital stopwatch was used to record the total time (sec) to complete five times sit to stand test. The timing started with the initial movement to stand on the first repetition and ended after returning to sitting on the fifth repetition. Performance on the five times sit to stand test was recorded as the average of two trials. A longer time to complete five times sit to stand test was indicative of worse physical function (78). five times sit to stand test has high testretest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients > 0.9) for measuring repeated chair stand function in older adults with symptomatic hip and/or knee OA (79).

4.2.4 Potential confounders

We considered the following factors as potential confounders based on their association with walking speed, repeated chair stands time, all-cause mortality and KR(34, 51, 103-107, 118): age, sex (female versus male), race/ethnicity (white versus

non-white), education (less than college graduate versus at least college graduate), body mass index (BMI, kg/m²) computed from weight and height assessment, comorbidity measured using the modified Charlson comorbidity index(108), depressive symptoms measured using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (> versus <16) (109), symptomatic knee OA (SxOA), which was defined as presence of knee pain, aching or stiffness on most days in past month during the previous year in either right or left knee and presence of radiographic knee OA, which was defined as Kellgren–Lawrence grade ≥ 2 on x-ray in one or both knees (present versus absent). These factors were ascertained at the study enrollment by interview, questionnaire, and/or direct measurement, as appropriate.

4.2.5 Statistical Analysis

We described the study sample using means and standard deviations for continuous variables and percentages for categorical variables. To examine the association of walking speed with all-cause mortality and KR over 9 years, we calculated hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) from separate Cox regression model for each outcome, which was adjusted for potential confounders. To examine the association of repeated chair stands time with all-cause mortality and KR over 9 years, we calculated hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals [HR (95%CI)] from separate Cox regression model for each outcome, which was adjusted for potential confounders.

We used Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach to identify the optimal threshold of walking speed and repeated chair stands that predicted the risk of all-cause mortality and KR (53). Specifically, we ran unadjusted and adjusted Cox models for different thresholds of the walking speed iteratively. We then identify the threshold corresponding to the model that gave the maximal Chi-Square value. This method is known to maximize the concordance with the observed follow-up times between walking speed and all-cause mortality risk. Maximizing the concordance is a metric that is used to evaluate the performance of the thresholds when there is censored endpoints and is similar to maximizing the Youden index; criteria employed when using a ROC method.

Finally, we repeated analyses restricting our sample by age groups, i.e., older (\geq 65 years) and younger (<65 years) adults. Our intention with these sub-analyses was to investigate the stability of our findings across samples of people with different age groups because age may influence an individual's risk for all-cause mortality(10) and KR(34) as well as walking speed(46, 119) and repeated chair stands time(46, 48).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Walking speed

Of 4796 participants recruited for the study, 4,775 participants have completed the 20-m walk test at the baseline visit. Table 4.1a displays characteristics of the participants who were included in the analytical sample. The average age was $61.14 \pm$ 9.18years (mean \pm sd), BMI 28.62 \pm 4.84kg/m², over half were women (59.39%), the majority (79.18%) were white, and 59.20% were at least a college graduate. Over 6.5% and 9.2% of the analytic sample died or had KR over 9 years, respectively. (Table 4.1)

Characteristics	Overall	Younger	Older adults
	Sample	adults	Mean±sd or
	Mean±sd or	Mean±sd or	% (n)
	% (n)	% (n)	
Total sample	4775	2966	1809
Age, years	61.14±9.18	55.07±5.35	71.1±4
Women	58.39(2788)	41.71(1237)	41.46(750)
Race, white	79.18(3781)	75.69(2245)	84.91(1536)
Education, at least college			
graduate	59.2(2827)	62.02(1752)	55.81(927)
BMI (kg/m2)	28.62 ± 4.84	28.94±5.13	28.1±4.28
Knee pain severity in past 30			
days, rated on scale of 0-10			
Right	2.67±2.73	2.81±2.76	2.44±2.67
Left	2.63 ± 2.80	2.82±2.83	2.32±2.71
Index knee	3.56±2.87	3.73±2.86	3.28±2.85
Comorbidities	0.32 ± 0.77	0.32±0.77	0.51±0.95
Depression	9.93(474)	12.07(358)	6.41(116)
ROA	53.55(2557)	48.15(1428)	62.41(1129)
SxOA	28.98(1384)	28.56(847)	29.68(537)
Walking speed (m/sec)	1.33±0.22	1.36±0.22	1.27±0.21
Number of deaths	6.53(312)	2.97(88)	12.38(224)
Number of KR	9.15(437)	7.59(225)	11.72(212)
Time to deaths	121.09±39.96	92.14±27.57	117.87±41.02
Time to KR	89.93±28.73	71.1±40	86.32±30.19

Table 4.1:Characteristics of study participants who completed 20-m walk test at
baseline (N=4775)

Walking 0.1 meters/sec slower during the 20-meter walk test was associated with a 16% greater risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years (Table 4.2). We found similar results when we stratified the analysis based on younger and older adults with or at risk of knee OA.

Table 4.2:Association of walking speed and risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years
in adults with knee OA

	Overall	Younger adults	Older adults			
Unadjusted HR						
(95%CI)						
(0.1 m/sec slower)	1.25 (1.19, 1.32)	1.20 (1.10, 1.33)	1.19 (1.11, 1.27)			
*Adjusted HR						
(95%CI)						
(0.1 m/sec slower)	1.16 (1.09, 1.23)	1.14 (1.02, 1.28)	1.14 (1.02, 1.28)			
*Adjusted for sex, race, education, baseline age, BMI, comorbidities, the presence of						
depression and SxOA						

Walking slower than 1.2 m/sec was found to be optimal thresholds to discriminate people who are at higher risk for all-cause mortality since it yielded maximal chi-square value in unadjusted as well as in adjusted Cox model (Table 4.3). We found similar thresholds when we re-ran the analysis for older and younger adults with or at high risk of knee OA (Table 4.4 and 4.5).

Table 4.3:Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach^ to identify the optimal
threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of all-cause mortality
in overall sample (N=4775)

Threshold	# deaths/total people		Adjusted HR	Maximal Lil Square val from Co	xelihood Chi- ue obtained ox model
	Walk slower	Walk faster		unadjusted	*adjusted
0.8 m/s	7/53 (13.2%)	305/4722 (6.5%)	1.58 (0.69, 3.62)	5.48	272.45
0.9 m/s	20/118 (16.9%)	292/4657 (6.3%)	2.43 (1.49, 3.98)	20.24	281.57
1.0 m/s	48/317 (15.1%)	264/4458 (5.9%)	2.02 (1.44, 2.83)	39.52	286.26
1.1 m/s	88/686 (12.8%)	224/4089 (5.5%)	1.97 (1.49, 2.60)	54.95	292.86
1.2 m/s	146/1355 (10.8%)	166/3420 (4.9%)	1.81 (1.41, 2.31)	61.63	293.2
1.3 m/s	200/2185 (9.2%)	112/2590 (4.3%)	1.62 (1.26, 2.09)	54.07	285.82
1.4 m/s	246/3089 (8%)	66/1686 (3.9)	1.48 (1.11, 1.99)	37.29	278.82
*Adjusted fo	r baseline age, BMI, s	sex, race, education,	comorbidities, the p	resence of depre	ession
(< vs. >16), and symptomatic knee OA (yes or no), defined as presence of Kellgren–Lawrence grade ≥ 2					
on x-ray in one or both knees, and pain, aching, or stiffness on most days of a month during the previous					
year. ^higher	chi-square values rep	present greater conco	ordance between the	threshold and a	ll-cause
mortality.	- *	-			

Table 4.4:Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach^ to identify the optimal
threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of all-cause mortality
in younger adults with knee OA (N=2966)

Threshold	# deaths/total people		Adjusted HR	Maximal Lik Square val from Co	celihood Chi- ue obtained ox model
	Walk slower	Walk faster		unadjusted	*adjusted
0.8 m/s	2/26 (7.7%)	86/2940 (2.9%)	1.59 (0.22, 11.66)	2.34	33.54
0.9 m/s	5/61 (8.2%)	83/2905 (2.9%)	2.30 (0.78, 6.74)	5.34	35.24
1.0 m/s	7/147 (4.8%)	81/2819 (2.9%)	1.13 (0.47, 2.72)	2.28	33.43
1.1 m/s	19/334 (5.7%)	69/2632 (2.6%)	1.89 (1.06, 3.37)	10.14	37.87
1.2 m/s	33/678 (4.9%)	55/2288 (2.4%)	1.92 (1.19, 3.11)	11.92	40.06
1.3 m/s	48/1171 (4.1%)	40/1795 (2.2%)	1.64 (1.03, 2.61)	10.17	37.7
1.4 m/s	63/1734 (3.6%)	25/1232 (2.0%)	1.54 (0.93, 2.54)	8.04	36.34
*Adjusted for baseline age, BMI, sex, race, education, comorbidities, the presence of depression					pression
(< vs. >16), and symptomatic knee OA (yes or no), defined as presence of Kellgren–Lawrence grade					
≥ 2 on x-ray in one or both knees, and pain, aching, or stiffness on most days of a month during the					
previous year	. ^higher chi-squar	e values represent g	reater concordance b	etween the three	shold and
all-cause mor	tality.	1 0			

Table 4.5:Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach^ to identify the optimal
threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of all-cause mortality
in older adults with knee OA (N=1809)

Threshold	reshold # deaths/total people		Adjusted HR	Maximal Li Square value Cox	kelihood Chi- obtained from model
	Walk slower	Walk faster		unadjusted	*adjusted
0.8 m/s	5/27 (18.5%)	219/1782 (12.3%)	1.73 (0.69, 4.33)	1.91	99.05
0.9 m/s	15/57 (26.3%)	209/1752 (11.9%)	2.53 (1.45, 4.45)	11.39	106.46
1.0 m/s	41/170 (24.1%)	183/1639 (11.2%)	2.19 (1.51, 3.17)	25.77	113.08
1.1 m/s	69/352 (19.6%)	155/1457 (10.6%)	1.91 (1.39, 2.62)	27.08	112.68
1.2 m/s	113/677 (16.7%)	111/1132 (9.8%)	1.73 (1.30, 2.31)	24.73	111.84
1.3 m/s	152/1014 (15.0%)	72/795 (9.1%)	1.56 (1.15, 2.10)	20.08	106.35
1.4 m/s	183/1355 (13.5%)	41/454 (9.0%)	1.40 (0.98, 2.00)	9.37	101.44
*Adjusted for	· baseline age, BMI, se	x, race, education, con	orbidities, the presen	ce of depression	(< vs. >16).

and symptomatic knee OA (yes or no), defined as presence of Kellgren–Lawrence grade ≥ 2 on x-ray in one or both knees, and pain, aching, or stiffness on most days of a month during the previous year. Ahigher chi-square values represent greater concordance between the threshold and all-cause mortality.

Walking 0.1 meters/sec slower during the 20-meter walk test was associated with 9% greater risk of KR over 9 years in older adults with or at risk of knee OA. However, these effects were attenuated and did not meet statistical significance in the overall sample and younger adults with or at risk of knee OA. (Table 4.6).

Table 4.6:Association of walking speed and risk of KR over 9 years in adults with
knee OA

	Overall	Younger adults	Older adults
Unadjusted HR (95%CI)			
(0.1 m/sec slower) *Adjusted HR (95%CI)	1.14 (1.09, 1.19)	1.11 (1.04, 1.18)	1.12 (1.05, 1.20)
(0.1 m/sec slower)	1.03 (0.98, 1.09)	1.00 (0.94, 1.07)	1.09 (1.01, 1.18)
*Adjusted for sex, race SxOA	e, education, baseline age	, BMI, comorbidities, the I	presence of depression and

Walking slower than 1.4 m/sec was found to be an optimal threshold to discriminate older adults only who are at higher risk for KR. (Table 4.7). We did not investigate the thresholds of the walking speed for discriminating people who are at KR risk since we did not find an association between walking speed and KR in the overall sample and younger adults with or at risk of knee OA.

Table 4.7: Maximal Likelihood Ratio Chi-square Approach[^] to identify the optimal threshold of walking speed that predicted the risk of KR in older adults with knee OA (N=1809)

Threshold	# deaths/total people		Adjusted HR	Maximal Like Square value o Cox model	lihood Chi- btained from
	Walk slower	Walk faster		unadjusted	*adjusted
0.8 m/s	2/27 (7.4%)	210/1782 (11.8)	0.61 (0.15, 2.55)	0.15	122.77
0.9 m/s	5/57 (8.8%)	207/1752 (11.8%)	0.65 (0.25, 1.73)	0.06	121.18
1.0 m/s	24/170 (14.1%)	188/1639 (11.5%)	1.19 (0.75, 1.89)	2.68	122.72
1.1 m/s	44/352 (12.5%)	168/1457 (11.5%)	1.00 (0.70, 1.43)	1.45	121.3
1.2 m/s	85/677 (12.6%)	127/1132 (11.2%)	1.08 (0.81, 1.45)	2.18	122.11
1.3 m/s	135/1014 (13.3%)	77/795 (9.7%)	1.34 (1.00, 1.79)	7.58	125.44
1.4 m/s	177/1355 (13.1%)	35/454 (7.7%)	1.66 (1.14, 2.42)	10.8	128.09
*Adjusted for	*Adjusted for baseline age, BMI, sex, race, education, comorbidities, the presence of depression (< vs. >16),				
and symptomatic knee OA (yes or no), defined as presence of Kellgren–Lawrence grade ≥ 2 on x-ray in one or					
both knees, and pain, aching, or stiffness on most days of a month during the previous year. ^higher chi-square					
values repres	ent greater concordance	e between the threshold	and all-cause mortalit	y.	_

4.3.2 Repeated chair stands time

Of 4796 participants recruited for the study, 4,486 participants have completed five times sit to stand test at the baseline visit. Table 4.1b displays characteristics of the participants who were included in the analytical sample. The average age was 60.96 ± 9.16 years (mean \pm sd), BMI 28.58 \pm 4.84 kg/m², over half were women (59.72%), the majority (79.78%) were white, and 59.72% were at least a college

graduate. Over 6.29% and 8.72% of the analytic sample died or had KR over 9 years, respectively. (Table 4.8).

Characteristics	Overall Sample	Younger	Older adults
	Mean±sd or %	adults	Mean±sd or
	(n)	Mean±sd or	% (n)
		% (n)	
Total sample	4486	2825	1661
Age, years	60.96±9.16	55.02 ± 5.35	71.04 ± 4.02
Women	58.09(2606)	42.09(1189)	41.6(691)
Race, white	79.78(3579)	76.71(2167)	85.01(1412)
Education, at least college			
graduate	59.72(2679)	45.56(200)	69.92(372)
BMI (kg/m2)	28.58 ± 4.84	28.88 ± 5.11	28.08 ± 4.29
Knee pain severity in past 30			
days, rated on scale of 0-10			
Right	2.59 ± 2.69	2.73±2.71	2.37 ± 2.64
Left	2.58 ± 2.77	2.76 ± 2.79	2.29 ± 2.71
Index knee	3.49 ± 2.84	3.65 ± 2.83	3.22 ± 2.84
Comorbidities	0.31±0.74	0.31±0.74	0.5 ± 0.92
Depression	9.61(431)	11.65(329)	6.14(102)
ROA	53.03(2379)	47.72(1348)	62.07(1031)
SxOA	28.15(1263)	27.79(785)	28.78(478)
five times sit to stand test			
(m/sec)	11.46 ± 3.81	11.05 ± 3.79	12.17 ± 3.74
Number of deaths	6.53(312)	2.8(79)	12.22(203)
Number of KR	9.15(437)	7.19(203)	11.32(188)
		92.54±27.2	118.19±40.6
Time to deaths	121.09±39.96	5	9
Time to KR	89.93±28.73	71.04 ± 4.02	86.91±29.85

Table 4.8:Characteristics of study participants who completed five times sit to stand
test at baseline (N=4486)

Each additional 1 sec needed to complete five times sit to stand test was not associated with risk of either all-cause mortality or KR over 9 years. We found similar

non-significant results when we stratified the analysis based on younger and older adults with or at risk of knee OA. (Table 4.9 and 4.10).

Table 4.9:Association of repeated chair stands time and risk of all-cause mortality
over 9 years in adults with knee OA

	Overall	Younger adults	Older adults		
Unadjusted HR					
(95%CI)					
(1 sec longer)	1.07 (1.04, 1.09)	1.06 (1.00, 1.11)	1.04 (1.00, 1.07)		
*Adjusted HR					
(95%CI)					
(1 sec longer)	1.02 (0.98, 1.05)	1.03 (0.97, 1.10)	1.01 (0.97, 1.05)		
*Adjusted for sex, race, education, baseline age, BMI, comorbidities, the presence					
of depression and SxOA					

 Table 4.10:
 Association of repeated chair stands time and risk of KR over 9 years in adults with knee OA

	Overall	Younger adults	Older adults			
Unadjusted HR						
(95%CI)						
(1 sec longer)	1.01 (1.00, 1.01)	1.01 (1.02, 1.01)	1.01 (1.00, 1.01)			
*Adjusted HR						
(95%CI)						
(1 sec longer)	1.00 (0.99, 1.00)	0.98 (0.95, 1.02)	1.00 (1.00, 1.01)			
*Adjusted for sex, race, education, baseline age, BMI, comorbidities, the presence						
of depression and S	of depression and SxOA					

We did not investigate the thresholds of the repeated chair stands time for discriminating people who are at risk of either all-cause mortality or KR since we did not find an association between the performance on five times sit to stand test and OA- related health outcomes (all-cause mortality and KR) in the overall sample, older and younger adults with or at risk of knee OA.

4.4 Discussion

We found walking speed was associated with risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years, after adjusting for potential confounders in adults with or at risk of knee OA. Walking slower than 1.2 m/s on a 20-m walk test was found to be optimal threshold given it yielded higher chi-square values and walking slower than these thresholds significantly increased the risk of all-cause mortality in overall, older as well as younger adults with knee OA. Walking speed was associated with risk of KR over 9 years in older adults with or at risk of knee OA only. However, these findings were not consistent in younger adults with or risk of knee OA. Walking slower than 1.4 m/sec increased the risk of KR over 9 years by 66% in older adults with knee OA. Lastly, repeated chair stands time was not associated with all-cause mortality and KR in adults with or at risk of knee OA.

We found slow walking speed was strongly associated with all-cause mortality in adults with knee OA. This finding is consistent with previous research that shows walking speed was a strong predictor for all-cause mortality in community-dwelling older adults (15, 51). Specifically, it is a strong predictor for adverse health outcomes, i.e., mortality and prolonged hospitalization in older adults (15, 51, 82, 99) and poor response to rehabilitation in adults after stroke (82, 110).

Plausible mechanism why slow walking speed is such as strong predictor in knee OA is that it reflects impairments in several body systems (84), i.e., vision, lower extremity strength (85, 86), aerobic capacity (87), postural control (86), and restrict daily walking (52). Due to the strong predictive validity of walking speed with

adverse health outcomes, it is considered as a functional vital sign (99) in older adults. This, concept can be translated in knee OA population too given walking speed is a strong predictor for all-cause mortality.

Walking speed can be used as a marker to quantify walking difficulty. Our study findings are consistent with previous findings, where people with knee OA who report walking difficulty via self-report measure have a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who do not report walking difficulty (9-11). Hawker and co-authors have shown that people with at least moderately severe symptomatic hip and/or knee OA who report walking difficulty i.e., use walking aid were 51% [adjusted HR 1.51, 95% CI (1.34, 1.70)] more likely to die over 13 years compared to those who do not report walking difficulty. We found that walking speed predicted the risk for all-cause mortality in younger as well as older adults with knee OA. Therefore, walking speed is a robust predictor for all-cause mortality since association exists even in a sample where few people died, e.g., younger adults in the OAI.

Walking speed is a robust predictor for all-cause mortality given the association was consistent in older and younger adults with knee OA. The threshold of the walking speed required in younger and older adults to predict all-cause mortality was similar. Specifically, walking slower than 1.2 m/sec may identify younger as well as older adults with knee OA with functional limitation severe enough to warrant for rehabilitation since walking slower than this threshold increases the risk for all-cause mortality. These thresholds are consistent with previous literature in well-functioning older adults and knee OA. Walking slower than 1.0 m/sec increases the risk for all-cause mortality in well-functioning older adults (15) while walking at least 1.22 m/sec is the minimum speed needed to cross streets using timed signals (51). Walking slower

than 1.22 m/s is predictive of inadequate physical function necessary to be physically active (52) in knee OA.

We found walking speed was not associated with risk of KR in the overall sample and in younger adults with knee OA. There are various possible explanations for these non-significant findings. First, the expectations for electing KR differs in older and younger adults. Younger adults elect for KR to better perform activities on a demanding level (120) as opposed to older adults with knee OA. A second possible explanation for walking speed not able to predict the risk of KR in the overall sample as well as in younger adults is that association may be confounded by other factors such as age, depression, comorbidities or knee OA severity. Our study attempted to account for these potential confounders, which could explain the mechanism underlying the association between walking speed and KR. Our adjusted model indicates that the predictive value of walking speed time and KR was explained by the presence of SxOA at baseline in the overall sample as well as in younger adults with knee OA.

Repeated chair stands time was not associated with all-cause mortality and KR in adults with or at risk of knee OA. These findings were consistent with previous studies where they found five times sit to stand test independently could not predict the risk of all-cause mortality in community-dwelling older French women (121) and the risk of hospitalization in acute care unit within the first year of follow-up in wellfunctioning older adults (103). One possible explanation for our study finding is that the association between repeated chair stands time and OA-related health outcomes, i.e., all-cause mortality and KR may be confounded by other factors such as age, depression, comorbidities or knee OA severity. Our study attempted to account for

these potential confounders, which could explain the mechanism underlying the association between repeated chair stands time and OA-related health outcomes. Our adjusted model indicates that the predictive value of repeated chair stands time and all-cause mortality was explained by baseline comorbidities, while the predictive value of repeated chair stands time and KR was explained by the presence of SxOA at baseline. Another possible explanation for not finding an association between repeated chair stands time and KR is that our study follow-up of 9 years only, which may be truncated for the overall sample and younger adults with knee OA given the average amount of time people with knee OA spend in nonsurgical regimens is 13 years before electing KR (114).

4.4.1 Strengths and Limitations

The major strength of our study is that we used a large dataset and 9-year follow-up, so they provide a means to effectively describe the people with different performance on performance-based measures including walking speed, and repeated chair stands time. However, our study had some limitations. First, we caution generalizing the results of our study to all individuals, since the majority of our sample was white and overweight. Second, we did not account for intercurrent events such as hospitalization, knee replacement, which occurred during the follow-up when we investigated the association of walking speed with all-cause mortality. We believe understanding how such events alter the association of walking speed with all-cause mortality is important and needed to study in future research. Lastly, walking speed was measured using a 20-m walk test. Therefore, there should be caution while generalizing the study findings to walking speeds taken over shorter or longer distances. However, this limitation is not fatal because 5 to 10 meters dedicated

straight path for valid walking speed assessment (111) and in our study we had a 20-m path, so the measurement of walking speed was valid.

4.4.2 Clinical Implication

Given our study findings, we recommend, health care professionals should assess walking speed in routine clinical practice. Walking speed appears to be a simple, reliable, and valid screening tool to predict all-cause mortality in younger as well as older adults with knee OA. Assessing walking speed alone may aid in clinical decision-making by telling clinicians, which patients with knee OA may need rehabilitation to address functional limitation. Specifically, walking slower than 1.2 m/sec on a 20-m walk test may serve as a threshold to refer to rehabilitation for older as well as younger patients with or at risk of knee OA. These thresholds are similar to previous study reporting minimum levels of physical function needed for being physically active (defined as walking at least 6000 steps/day) (52).

4.5 Conclusion

Slow walking speed and not limited repeated chair stands time may signify a higher risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years in adults with or at risk of knee OA, and a higher risk of TKR in older adults aged >65 years. Therefore, walking speed can be considered as a robust predictor for all-cause mortality in knee OA. Health professionals may consider referring patients with or at high risk of knee OA who walk slower than 1.2 m/sec on a 20-m walk test for further examination targeting potential modifiable factors for health and survival. In addition, clinicians may consider slow walking as a means to identify older adults at high risk of KR, and who may benefit from rehabilitation to address functional limitations that may precipitate

the need for KR. Thus, health care professionals may use walking speed to assess the patient's expected health and tailor goal of care accordingly.

Chapter 5

IDENTIFYING SUBGROUPS WITH DIFFERENTIAL IMPROVEMENT IN PHYSICAL ACTIVITY FOLLOWING PHYSICAL THERAPIST-LED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY INTERVENTION IN ADULTS AFTER TOTAL KNEE REPLACEMENT: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY

5.1 Introduction

Worldwide over 250 million adults have knee osteoarthritis (OA) (2), which is a leading cause of pain and functional limitation (4). More than 60% of people with knee OA are physically inactive (25). Though total knee replacement (TKR) is a definitive treatment for knee OA and is known to decrease pain and functional limitation, physical activity either remains same or decreased compared to the preoperative level (54-56). Being physically inactive increases the risk of adverse health outcomes such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, and all-cause mortality (26-29, 60, 122).

Improving physical activity in people after TKR was a primary goal of the "physical therapist (PT)-led physical activity intervention randomized control trial" study at the University of Delaware Physical Therapy Clinic (UDPT) (123). The preliminary findings of this study were that people who received PT-led physical activity intervention, on average, walked 1798 more steps per day as well as spent 73.4 minutes more time per week in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) compared to the control group (124). However, quantifying clinical improvements in physical activity on a group level may not translate to clinical application (125) because these improvements following an intervention may not be uniformly positive.

This non-uniformity in the response means not all the people who received PT-led physical activity intervention showed improvements in their physical activity level at discharge at the same level compared to the average improvement. At present, it is unclear why some people may not achieve improvement in physical activity in a similar fashion as compared to average improvements in the group.

One factor that may explain the variability in the improvements in physical activity following the intervention is the variability in the participant's baseline characteristics. These characteristics in a clinical trial differ considerably regardless of how strict the inclusion/exclusion criteria are set. The variability may exist in the baseline characteristics such as age, body mass index (BMI), sex, education, and performance on physical function tests, which in turn may influence the effectiveness of the intervention and may jeopardize the generalizability of the findings. One way to overcome this limitation is to identify the subgroup (125) of the participants for whom the intervention is more effective compared to those who are in the control group (don't receive the intervention). The subgroups may identify specific characteristics of the patients for whom the probability of treatment, i.e., a physical activity intervention success is low at the time of assessment. This investigation of the subgroups was important because it may lay a foundation for optimizing individually tailored rehabilitation programs. Future studies may test the hypothesis whether targeting individuals with the same characteristics as identified in this study may respond better to treatment compared to those who do not meet the subgroup characteristics.

There are various ways of identifying subgroups. Subgroups may be identified using a biological rationale without pre-defined statistical method (126) or mining the data post-hoc in an undefined or uncontrolled fashion. However, these approaches

may be subjected to individual bias, either lack a statistical approach or may lead to false positives (127). There is a need to identify a subgroup using a pre-defined statistical approach, which is reproducible as well as has clinical implication. Several statistical approaches have been developed within the machine learning communities to identify the subgroup of patients with an enhanced intervention effect if it truly exists. In this dissertation, we used an approach developed by Foster and colleagues, i.e., Virtual Twins, to identify the subgroups (128). In this approach, subgroup identification was based on predicting the response probabilities for intervention and control twins for each subject (128). We used this approach because we know based on our preliminary findings that PT-led physical activity intervention is more effective to increase physical activity than the control, i.e., standard physical therapy (124).

This study was exploratory in nature since the subgroups of people who may achieve meaningful improvements in physical activity following the intervention were identified using regression-tree based method without defining any hypotheses for subgroups. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to explore the subgroup of the patients after TKR who experience greater benefit from a PT-led physical activity intervention compared to the control group. We also investigated the association of this subgroup with the likelihood of achieving improvements in physical activity in people who only received a PT-led physical activity intervention.

5.2 Method

5.2.1 Study participants

We used the data from the ongoing single-blinded randomized control clinical trial. People receiving physical therapy for a unilateral TKR at the UDPT clinic were

recruited in the trial. Specifically, patients who were over 45 years of age and, had an interest in increasing physical activity were included in the trial. Participants were excluded from the trial if they had any additional comorbidities that would prevent them from participating in a physical activity intervention, e.g., unstable angina. They were excluded from the study if they had another lower extremity surgery in the previous 6 months and/or had another lower extremity surgery planned for 6 months after enrolling in the study.

The participants were randomized to either the physical activity intervention group or a control group.

A PT-led physical activity intervention group (123) received the following (see figure 5.1):

- Standard physical therapy was provided by a licensed PT using the UD's Rehabilitation Guidelines for Unilateral TKR. The therapy was provided on an individual basis and supervised by a licensed PT. Exercises focus on pain management, restoring range of motion, lower extremity strengthening, and functional activities. Some examples of intervention include sit-to-stand training, stair training, and walking program. The supervising PT also prescribed home exercise once they feel confident that the patient can perform them safely and effectively. Lastly, the participant received a home exercise log, which was discussed with the treating PT on a weekly basis.
- Activity monitor: Participants were provided a Fitbit Zip within one week of enrolling in the study. Participants were given written and face-to-face instructions on how to set up, use, and sync the Fitbit Zip to their smartphone, tablet, or home computer using the app or program provided by Fitbit. They

were instructed to wear the Fitbit Zip around their waist at their right anteriorsuperior iliac crest daily during waking hours and were asked to monitor their steps/day using with the Fitbit Zip. Extra batteries and instructions on how to install the batteries were provided as needed.

1. Steps/Day Goal Setting: Treating PT and patient jointly set weekly steps/day goals. For the first three weeks after surgery for TKR (i.e., weeks 0, 1, and 2), patient's were encouraged to continue their normal activities as tolerated. This goal for physical activity was set to prevent exacerbation of pain response and delay from recovery from surgery. After three weeks after surgery for TKR, a 10% to 20% increase in average steps/day was recommended towards a 6,000 steps/day goal. This increase was based on clinical observations made by treating PT at UDPT during treatment. The discharge goal was set to 6,000 steps/day or more since this threshold was found to better discriminate between those who did versus those who did not develop functional limitation two years later people with or at high risk of knee OA (122) and risk of all-cause mortality in older women (129).



Figure 5.1: Physical therapist-led physical activity intervention

Control group received only standard physical therapy. More details on the study protocol can found in our protocol paper, which is already published(123).

5.2.2 Study outcome

Improvements in physical activity

Physical activity was quantified as steps/day measured using a triaxial accelerometer (Actigraph GT3X, Pensacola, FL, USA) at two time-points, i.e., baseline and discharge from the randomized control trial. The Actigraph GT3X is a valid device to quantify physical activity in free-living conditions (73, 74) (See Figure 5.2A-B). Subjects were fitted with the accelerometer above the right hip and were instructed to wear the accelerometer during waking hours for seven consecutive days (Figure 5.2C).



Figure 5.2 A-C: Actigraph GT3X monitor (A and B) and participant wearing the monitor around the waist such that accelerometer sits on the right anterior superior iliac spine (C).

We employed previously published methods to determine valid physical activity records (75). Briefly, we defined a valid wear day as at least 10 hours of wear time and included participants with ≥ 1 valid wear day. Steps/day were averaged across the available valid days. Currently, there are not established values for meaningful clinical difference (MCID) for physical activity (i.e., steps/day). Therefore, we used three approaches to define people who had a meaningful improvement in their steps/day at discharge compared to their baseline steps/day.

<u>Approach 1:</u> Participants who met the discharge goal, i.e., walked at least 6,000 steps/day at discharge were classified as having meaningful improvements in physical activity. If the participants did not meet the 6,000 steps/day threshold at discharge, they were classified as not having meaningful improvements in physical activity.

<u>Approach 2:</u> Participants whose absolute change in steps/day from baseline to discharge (Steps/day at discharge – Steps/day at baseline) is above the average change

(i.e., absolute change \geq 2500 steps/day) were classified as a having meaningful improvements in physical activity. Other participants whose absolute change in steps/day were less than the average change in steps/day were classified as not having meaningful improvements in physical activity.

<u>Approach 3:</u> Participants who had at least a 100% increase in the steps/day from baseline to discharge and met 6,000 steps/day at discharge were as having meaningful improvements in physical activity. Other participants were classified as not having meaningful improvements in physical activity.

5.2.3 Study exposures

Following baseline characteristics will be included as exposure to identify the subgroups.

- Demographic characteristics such as age, BMI (kg/m²) computed from height and weight assessment, sex (female versus male), race (white versus nonwhite), education (less than college graduate versus at least college graduate).
- 2. We used a performance-based physical function test, i.e., Timed Up and Go test (TUG) to evaluate baseline physical functioning (130). TUG measures the time it takes to rise from a chair walk 3-meters and return to sit. The patient was instructed to rise from a chair without the use of the armrests and move as quickly and safely as possible to a mark on the ground designating 3 meters. After crossing the mark, they returned to the chair and sat as quickly as they felt safe and comfortable. The timing started when the researcher or treating PT said "Go" and stopped when the patient's touched the back of the chair. Two trials were performed and recorded in seconds, and the average of the two trials was reported. Longer time to perform the TUG test was indicative of

worse physical function. TUG has a high test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients > 0.7) in adults with peripheral arthritis(131) and mild to moderate knee OA(132).

5.2.4 Statistical Analysis

We described the study sample using means and standard deviations for continuous variables and percentages for categorical variables. Participants with any missing baseline characteristics were excluded from the analysis.

We used Virtual Twins (VT; aVirtualTwins R package), a regression treebased method that searches for cutpoints of exposure variables where the differential treatment effect exceeds a pre-specified threshold. In VT, we used quantile distribution i.e., 50th, 60th, 70th and 80th percentile, recommended by the VT package to set the thresholds for the difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity intervention and control groups for subgroup identification, maximum depth of trees to 3. We also ran second VT where we modified the threshold to 10% difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity intervention and control groups for subgroup identification, keeping the maximum depth of trees to 3. We used to VT method to identify the rate of improvement in physical activity defined by approach 1 only since walking 6000 steps/day at discharge is clinically meaningful given previous studies have shown that walking at least 6000 steps/day reduce the risk of functional limitation over 2 years in knee OA (122) and risk of all-cause mortality in older women (129). We used the following baseline characteristics for potential subgroup identification: age, sex, BMI, performance on TUG, baseline steps/day, race, and education status. We used these factors based on their association with physical activity (42, 80, 81). We ran VT using different thresholds of improvement rate to investigate the stability of the study findings. Specifically, we only selected the baseline variables that were consistently identified using VT methods across different thresholds to define the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity intervention and control groups.

Once the thresholds for exposure variables were identified, we tested the association of identified exposures with the odds of achieving meaningful improvements in physical activity using logistic regression by calculating the odds ratio and 95% confidence interval in participants who received a PT-led physical activity intervention only. This analysis was conducted to test the association of thresholds of the predictors identified using VT methods to improvement in physical activity, given the exploratory nature of regression tree-based methods. Next, we tested this association between the thresholds identified using VT methods and achieving the improvement in physical activity using separate logistic regression model for the other two approaches used to define improvements in physical activity. This investigation was carried out to evaluate the stability of the findings since there is no well-established MCID value for physical activity, i.e., steps/day.

5.3 Results

Table 5.1 shows the characteristics of the participant who received PT-led physical activity intervention and who were in the control group.

	Control	Intervention
N	31	36
	mean±SD or %(n)	
Age	67.5±6.1	68±7.2
BMI	31.7±6	31.3±6.2
days since TKR	15±31	13.5±27.9
TUG baseline	15.4±7.1	14.9±6.3
Sex (Females)	52(16)	42(15)
Race (white)	94(29)	98(35)
Education (at least college grad)	52(16)	56(20)
Steps/day		
baseline	2715±1306	2460±1355
discharge	4912±1817	5387±3090
Received PA intervention	100(31)	0(0)

Table 5.1:Characteristics of the participants who were in the control group (N=31)
and who received PT-led physical activity intervention (N=36).

36 participants received a PT-led physical activity intervention with the average age was 68.7 ± 7.2 years (mean \pm sd), BMI 31.3 ± 6.2 kg/m², 15 were women (42%), and the majority were white (98%) and had graduated from college (56%). 31 participants were in control group with the average age was 67.5 ± 6.1 years (mean \pm sd), BMI 31.7 ± 60 kg/m², 16 were women (57%), and the majority were white (94%) and had graduated from college (52%).

Table 5.2 shows how many people achieved improvements in physical activity defined using 3 different approaches.

Table 5.2:Participant characteristics stratified by those who achieved (Yes) versus
those who did not achieve (No) improvements in physical activity
defined using 3 different approaches.

	Approach 1*		Approach 2**		Approach 3***	
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
Ν	23(34.33)	44(65.67)	30(44.78)	37(55.22)	14(20.9)	53(79.1)
Age	65.2±7.2	69.1±6.1	67±7.2	68.4±6.3	65.5 ± 8.6	68.4 ± 6.1
BMI	30.6±6.5	31.9 ± 5.8	30.8±6.2	32±6	30.9±6.4	31.6±6
days since TKR	16.3±33.8	13±27	9.6±6.6	18±39	7.4 ± 4.8	16±33
TUG baseline	13.8±6.8	15.8±6.6	13.9±6	16.2 ± 7.1	16.1±7.9	14.9±6.4
Sex (Females)	31(7)	55(24)	34(10)	57(21)	29(4)	51(27)
Race (white)	100(23)	94(41)	97(29)	95(35)	100(14)	95(50)
At least college						
graduate	44(10)	60(26)	44(13)	63(23)	43(6)	57(30)
Steps/day						
baseline	3216±1438	2245±1149	2717±1382	2465±1291	2421±1191	2619±1370
discharge	8007±1945	3682±1287	7191±2267	3525±1346	8367±2323	4321±1889
Received PA						
intervention	57(13)	53(23)	60(18)	49(18)	72(10)	50(26)

*Approach 1 states that participants achieved meaningful improvement in physical activity if they walked at least 6000 steps/day at discharge from the physical therapy.

**Approach 2 states that participants achieved meaningful improvement in physical activity if an absolute change in steps/day (steps/day at discharge – steps/day at baseline) is above the average change in steps/day.

***Approach 3 states that participants achieved meaningful improvement in physical activity if the percentage change in steps/day is more than 100% and if they walked at least 6000 steps/day at discharge from the physical therapy.

Of the total 67 participants with complete data, 23 (24%), 30 (45%) and 14

(21%) participants had improvements in a physical activity described using

approaches 1, 2, and 3 respectively.

Table 5.3 shows subgroups who walked at least 6000 steps/day at discharge

were identified using the VT method when the quantile distribution was used to set the

threshold for the difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical

activity intervention and control groups.

Table 5.3:Subgroups identified using VT method when quantile distribution i.e.,
50th, 60th, 70th and 80th percentile was used to set the thresholds for the
difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity
intervention and control groups

			Treat-		Treat-		
		Sub-	ement	Control	ment	Control	
		group	event	event	sample	sample	*RR
	Subgroup	size	rate	rate	size	size	(95% CI)
	BMI <u>></u> 28.8 & Age						1.33
Tree1	<73 & Age > 63.5	20	0.33	0.25	12	8	(0.31, 5.64)
	BMI < 28.5 &						1.56
Tree2	TUG < 13.5	18	0.63	0.40	8	10	(0.62, 3.96)
	BMI <u>></u> 28.5 & Age						1.50
Tree3	<73 & Age > 66.5	15	0.30	0.20	10	5	(0.20, 11.00)
	BMI < 28.5 &						1.41
Tree4	TUG < 13.5	17	0.63	0.44	8	9	(0.57, 3.49)
	BMI < 28.5 &						1.29
Tree5	TUG < 12.7	16	0.57	0.44	7	9	(0.46, 3.40)
	BMI < 28.5 & Age		0				2.00
Tree6	< 68.5	0	.80	0.40		4	(0.63, 6.38)
*Risk ratio (95 % Confidence Interval)							

In each of the trees, at least 43% of people receive a PT-led physical activity intervention. Baseline age, BMI, and performance on TUG were found to important predictors in identifying a subgroup of the people who walked at least 6,000 steps/day at discharge.

Table 5.4 shows subgroups who walked at least 6000 steps/day at discharge were identified using the VT method when 10% threshold was used to set a threshold for the difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity intervention and control groups. In each of the trees, at least 47% of people receive a PT-led physical activity intervention. Baseline age, BMI, and performance on TUG were found to important predictors in identifying a subgroup of the people who walked at least 6,000 steps/day at discharge.

Table 5.4:Subgroups identified using VT method when the threshold was set to
10% difference in the rate of improvement between PT-led physical
activity intervention and control group

		Sub-		Control	Treatment	Control	
		group	Treatment	event	sample	sample	*RR
	Subgroup	size	event rate	rate	size	size	(95% CI)
	BMI <u>></u> 28.5 &						
	Age < 73 &						2.10
Tree1	Age ≥ 65.5	17	0.30	0.14	10	7	(0.27, 16.22)
	BMI < 28.5 &						1.41
Tree2	TUG < 13.5	17	0.63	0.44	8	9	(0.57, 3.49)
*Risk ratio (95 % Confidence Interval)							

However, the thresholds for baseline BMI and performance on TUG were consistently identified across 2 VT methods that used a different threshold for the rate of improvement between PT-led physical activity intervention and control groups. Specifically following thresholds for each predictor variables were found - BMI less than 28.5 kg/m² and completing TUG within 13.5 seconds (Table 5.3 and 5.4).

Given exploratory nature of the analysis, we further investigated the association of meeting each of the threshold identified by VT method to the likelihood of achieving improvements in physical activity defined using 3 approaches in the logistic regression in adults who received PT-led physical activity intervention only. Specifically, we tested the following criteria formulated based on predictors and threshold identified by the VT method:

- (i) BMI and TUG criteria People met the criteria if their BMI was less than 28.5 kg/m2 and completed the TUG within 13.5 seconds at baseline.
- (ii) BMI only criteria People met this criterion if their BMI was less than
 28.5 kg/m² at baseline

(iii)TUG only criteria – People met this criterion if they completed the TUG within 13.5 seconds at baseline.

We found of all the people post-TKR who received PT-led physical activity intervention, 10, 12, and 18 people met BMI and TUG, BMI only and TUG only criteria, respectively.

Table 5.5: Association of predictor variables identified using a VT method to the odds of achieving the improvements in physical activity defined using 3 different approaches in people after TKR who received PT-led physical activity intervention only (N=36).

	Met Approach 1*		Met A	pproach 2**	Met Approach 3***	
	(N=13)		(N=18)	(N=10)	
	%	OR	%	OR	%	OR
Criteria	(n °)	[95% CI]	(n °)	[95% CI]	(n °)	[95% CI]
BMI and TUG [^]						
Met the criteria	40	1.25	70	3.18	40	2.22
(N=10)	(4)	[0.28, 5.65]	(7)	[0.67, 15.15]	(4)	[0.47, 10.57]
Did not meet the	35	1.00	42	1.00	23	1.00
criteria (N=26)	(9)	[Reference]	(11)	[Reference]	(6)	[Reference]
BMI only^^						
Met the criteria	58	4.22	58	1.66	33	1.50
(N=12)	(7)	[0.96, 18.32]	(7)	[0.41, 6.71]	(4)	[0.33, 6.82]
Did not meet the	25	1.00	45	1.00	25	1.00
criteria (N=24)	(6)	[Reference]	(11)	[Reference]	(6)	[Reference]
TUG only^^^						
Met the criteria	50	3.50	61	2.47	33	1.75
(N=18)	(9)	[0.55, 14.85]	(11)	[0.65, 9.43]	(6)	[0.40, 7.70]
Did not meet the	22	1.00	39	1.00	22	1.00
criteria (N=18)	(4)	[Reference]	(7)	[Reference]	(4)	[Reference]

^vnumber of participants with meaningful improvement in physical activity

Approach 1 states that participants achieved meaningful improvement in physical activity if they walked at least 6000 steps/day at discharge from physical therapy.

**Approach 2 states that participants achieved meaningful improvement in physical activity if an absolute change in steps/day (steps/day at discharge – steps/day at baseline) is above the average change in steps/day.

***Approach 3 states that participants achieved meaningful improvement in physical activity if the percentage change in steps/day is more than 100% and if they walked at least 6000 steps/day at discharge from the physical therapy. ^participants had BMI less than 28.5 kg/m2 and completed TUG within 13.5 seconds. ^^participants had BMI less than 28.5 kg/m2. ^^^participants had BMI completed TUG within 13.5 seconds.

People who met BMI and TUG criteria had 25% [OR: 1.25, 95%CI (0.28, 5.65)], 218% [OR: 3.18, 95%CI (0.67, 15.15)], 122% [OR: 2.22, 95%CI (0.47, 10.57)] higher odds of achieving improvements in physical activity defined using approaches 1, 2 and 3, respectively. None of the effects met statistical significance given the small sample size. We found similar higher odds of achieving improvements in physical activity when we used BMI only and TUG only criteria (Table 5.5). However, none of these effects reached statistical significance.

5.4 Discussion

In this exploratory analysis, we applied a regression tree-based method to identify a subgroup of patients post-TKR who have improvements in physical activity following a randomized control clinical trial. We found of all the people post TKR who received a PT-led physical activity intervention, those who had BMI less than 28.5 kg/m² and completed TUG within 13.5 seconds at baseline were more likely to achieve improvement in physical activity defined using different approaches, i.e., they responded best to PT-led physical activity intervention. However, our results did not meet statistical significance given the small sample size and exploratory nature of the analysis.

This exploratory study suggests people who have BMI less than 28.5 kg/m² and who complete TUG within 13.5 seconds at baseline may have a higher likelihood to benefit from a PT-led physical activity intervention following a TKR. This finding suggests that if people post-surgery have poor physical functioning at baseline, i.e.,

take more time to complete TUG may need intervention targeting their physical functioning to increase their physical ability to engage in physical activity. Further people who have higher BMI, treatment for weight reduction may also be needed in addition to improving the physical activity. Our study challenges the notion "one-sizefits-all" approach in rehabilitation care for people post-TKR. Understanding the effects of heterogeneity in patient characteristics post-TKR is important and may influence an individual's ability to respond to a particular intervention.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time that regression-tree based methods have been used to identify patient profile who may best respond to PT-led physical activity intervention. We found BMI and physical function, may be used to develop a patient profile. Previous studies have reported that higher BMI and worse physical function may be associated with poor health outcomes in TKR population. Specifically, people with higher BMI have a higher surgical-related complication (e.g., hematoma, neuromas) rate (133), lower prosthetic survival (134), lower activity scores measured using self-report questionnaires (133). People pre-TKR who have marked difficulty with physical have the worst outcomes post-operatively (135).

This study can be considered as preliminary evidence for tailoring the rehabilitation to achieve meaningful improvement in physical activity for patients post TKR. People post-TKR who have lower BMI (less than 28.5 kg/m²) and good physical functioning (completes TUG within 13.5 seconds) may be an ideal candidate for receiving physical activity intervention. On the other hand. If a person has BMI over 28.5 kg/m², then along with standard physical therapy and physical activity intervention, weight management may be needed for patients to improve their physical activity. Also, if the patient had a poor physical function, i.e., takes more than 13.5

seconds to complete TUG, then may there is need for additional rehabilitation to improve their physical ability before implementing physical activity intervention.

Our study has several limitations. First, we do not have control over the qualitative treatment-subgroup interaction, i.e., for one subgroup PT-led physical activity intervention is better than control, and for another subgroup is vice versa. Such kind of qualitative interaction may have an impact on clinical practice since some subgroups of patients should be treated differently than others. Recently, a new tree-based method, called Qualitative INteraction Trees, was developed, which accounts for qualitative interaction (136). However, we did not use this method since it was out of the scope of this study. Future studies should test this method and investigate if the results are consistent. Second, we did not have a standardized definition for categorizing people who achieve improvements in physical activity following the intervention. However, this limitation is not fatal since we used 3 different approaches to define the improvement and investigated the stability of the study findings. Third, there should be caution when generalizing the study findings given the exploratory nature of the analysis, as well as the majority of the study sample, was White. Lastly, there is a possibility that psychosocial factors may play a role in identifying the subgroups who may respond best to PT-led physical activity intervention. Hence, the subgroups identified in this study should be viewed as estimates that have some variability.

5.5 Conclusion

Multidimensional subgroups defined by baseline demographics and physical functioning predicted improvements in physical activity among patients post-TKR. These exploratory analyses suggest that a "profile" of patients who may respond best

to PT-led physical activity intervention may have BMI less than 28.5 kg/m² and/or completes TUG within 13.5 seconds at baseline. These results are exploratory, but this study may be considered as the first step towards identifying subgroups. It suggests that there may be subgroups of patients post-TKR who experience greater benefit from PT-led physical activity intervention. Further research in this area may help to guide targeted dissemination of PT-led physical activity intervention.
Chapter 6

SUMMARY

To date, knee OA has no cure, and management strategies focus on managing symptoms. Knee OA is a leading cause of functional limitation such as difficulty walking and getting up from a chair (3-6), which can be addressed by rehabilitation (19-21). However, less than 14% of people with knee OA receive rehabilitation (22, 23). One reason for low referrals may be the inability to identify those that are in need. Performance-based measures of physical function that identify functional limitation are a potential means to select such individuals. However, clinical assessment of performance-based measures is not part of the routine practice for knee OA (22, 23). We propose that referral to rehabilitation can better be guided with the identification of specific thresholds that hold clinical meaning on performance-based measures. The purpose of this study was to investigate the predictive value of selected clinically feasible performance-based measures with future health outcomes that are relevant for knee OA to establish so-called 'functional vital signs' for this patient population.

My long-term goal is to identify individuals with knee OA who may benefit the most from rehabilitation. The overall objective of this dissertation was to investigate if functional vital signs predict OA-related health outcomes and response to rehabilitation in adults with knee OA. In this proposal, I focused on interventions to increase physical activity (58, 59), since over half of the adults with knee OA are physically inactive (25) and subsequently face a cascade of health problems due to inactivity (26-28, 60). The response to a PT-led physical activity intervention was not

uniformly positive. My <u>central hypothesis</u> is that walking speed and repeated chair stands can predict OA-related health outcomes and poor response to a PA intervention. I formulated this hypothesis based on the prior work where walking speed (61, 62) and repeated chair stands(16) predicted the risk for poor health outcomes in older adults. I pursued the following aims to test my central hypothesis:

- Aim 1: To determine the extent to which walking speed and repeated chair stands will be associated with risk for not participating in physical activity, i.e., walking less than 6,000 steps/day in adults with knee OA. We chose this threshold because White et al. found walking ≥ 6000 steps/day better discriminates between those who did versus those who did not develop functional limitation two years later people with or at high risk of knee OA more so than walking 10,000 steps/day or 3,000 steps/day (63).
 - (H1.1) I hypothesize that walking slowly on a 20-m walk test will be associated with increased risk for not participating in physical activity.

We found walking 0.1 meters/sec slower during the 20-meter walk test was associated with walking 342 fewer steps/day (95% CI [-276, -408]) in adults with knee OA. Performance on the 20-m walk test corresponding to 80% to 95% specificity to identify those who walked \geq 6000 steps/day ranged from 1.13 to 1.26 meters/sec. We found similar findings when we restricted the analytical sample to adults with ROA only and SxOA only. Slow walking speed reflects impairments in several body systems (84), including vision, lower extremity strength (85, 86), aerobic capacity(87), postural control and proprioception (86), and can also restrict daily walking (15). • (H1.2) I hypothesize that taking more time to complete five times sit to stand test will be associated with increased risk for not participating in physical activity.

We found each additional 1 sec to complete the five sit to stand test was associated with walking 130 fewer steps/day (95% CI [-178, -83]). Performance on the five times sit to stand test corresponding to 80% to 95% specificity to identify those who walked \geq 6000 steps/day ranged from 11.4 to 14.0 sec. We found similar findings when we restricted the analytical sample to adults with ROA only and SxOA only. Poor performance, i.e., requiring greater time to complete the test, may reflect the presence of impairments including lower body pain, inadequate lower body muscle strength, poor balance or coordination deficits, which also can limit daily walking.

- Aim 2: To determine the association of walking speed and repeated chair stands measured at one time-point and decline over one year with risk for all-cause mortality over 9 years.
 - (H2.1) I hypothesize that all the adults with knee OA who walk slower than 1.22 m/sec on a 20-m walk test will be associated with a higher risk for all-cause mortality regardless of the decline in walking speed over a year compared to those who walk at least 1.22 m/sec.

Groups with walking speed < 1.22 m/s over a 20-m walk test at one time-point were at higher risk of mortality irrespective of history of decline in walking speed compared with those walking >1.22 m/s without meaningful decline over the previous year. Those walking <1..22 m/s with and without decline had 108% and 96% more risk of mortality compared with those walking >1.22 m/s without meaningful decline over the previous year.

 (H2.2) I hypothesize that of all the adults with knee OA who walked at least 1.22 m/sec on a 20-m walk test, those who had a meaningful decline in walking speed over one year will have a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who did not have meaningful decline over a year.

Our findings did not support this hypothesis. Of all the adults with knee OA who walked at least 1.22 m/s, those with a meaningful decline, in fact, had a lower risk for all-cause mortality compared to those without meaningful decline over the previous year. One plausible explanation of this study findings is that adults who walked at least 1.22 m/s in the present but had a meaningful decline over a previous year, started off walking at a much higher speed. Their current walking speed was well above the threshold predicting of poor health outcomes. These findings suggest that threshold effect at one time-point may be more portend compared to an absolute decline in walking speed for mortality risk in adults with knee OA.

(H2.3) I hypothesize that all the adults with knee OA who took
 >12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test will be
associated with a higher risk for all-cause mortality regardless
of the decline in repeated chair stands time over a year
compared to those who took <12 sec to complete five times sit
to stand test.

Our hypothesis was partially supported. Groups with >12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test at one time-point were at higher risk of mortality irrespective of

history of decline compared with those who took ≤ 12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test without meaningful decline over the previous year. Those taking >12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test at one time-point with and without decline had 32% and 24% more risk of mortality compared with those ≤ 12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test without meaningful decline over the previous year. However, the effect estimates did not reach statistical significance. However, we could see the trend in the findings.

> (H2.4) I hypothesize that of all the adults with knee OA who took <12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test, those who had a meaningful decline in repeated chair stands time over one year will have a higher risk for all-cause mortality compared to those who did not have meaningful decline over a year.

Our findings did not support this hypothesis. Of all the adults with knee OA who took ≤ 12 sec to complete five times sit to stand test, those with a meaningful decline, in fact, had a similar risk for all-cause mortality compared to those without meaningful decline over the previous year.

- Aim 3: To determine the optimal threshold for walking speed and repeated chair stands that discriminate those who have risk compared to those who do not have a risk for A) all-cause mortality and B) knee replacement (KR) over 9 years.
 - The threshold will be determined using the maximal likelihood chi-square approach. Specifically, we will run unadjusted and adjusted Cox models for different cut-points of the walking

speed and then identified the model that will give the maximal chi-square value. This method is known to maximize the concordance, which is a metric used to evaluate the performance of the cut-points when there are censored endpoints. This metric is similar to maximizing the Youden index; criteria employed when using a Receiving Operating Curve (ROC) method.

Walking 0.1 meters/sec slower during the 20-meter walk test was associated with a 16% greater risk of all-cause mortality over 9 years. We found similar results when we stratified the analysis based on younger and older adults with or at risk of knee OA. Walking slower than 1.2 m/sec were found to be optimal cut-points to discriminate people who are at higher risk for all-cause mortality since it yielded maximal chi-square value in unadjusted as well as in adjusted Cox model. We found similar cut-points when we re-ran the analysis for older and younger adults with or at high risk of knee OA.

Walking 0.1 meters/sec slower during the 20-meter walk test was associated with 9% greater risk of KR over 9 years in older adults with or at risk of knee OA. However, these effects were attenuated and did not meet statistical significance in the overall sample and younger adults with or at risk of knee OA. Walking slower than 1.4 m/sec was found to be an optimal cut-point to discriminate older adults only who are at higher risk for KR. We did not investigate the cut-points of the walking speed for discriminating people who are at KR risk since we did not find an association between walking speed and KR in the overall sample and younger adults with or at risk of knee OA.

Each additional 1 sec needed to complete five times sit to stand test was not associated with risk of either all-cause mortality or KR over 9 years. We found similar non-significant results when we stratified the analysis based on younger and older adults with or at risk of knee OA. We did not investigate the cut-points of the repeated chair stands time for discriminating people who are at risk of either all-cause mortality or KR since we did not find an association between the performance on five times sit to stand test and OA-related health outcomes (all-cause mortality and KR) in the overall sample, older and younger adults with or at risk of knee OA.

Exploratory Aim: To investigate the association of physical function measures with the odds of achieving meaningful improvements in physical activity in adults after TKR who received PT-led physical activity intervention.

• (H4.1) I hypothesize that limited performance on TUG will be associated with not achieving meaningful improvements in physical activity.

This aim was considered exploratory in nature since the subgroups of people who may respond best to PT-led physical activity intervention were identified using regression-tree based method without defining any hypotheses for subgroups. These exploratory analyses suggest that a "profile" of patients who may respond best to PT-led physical activity intervention may have BMI less than 28.5 kg/m² and/or completes TUG within 13.5 seconds at baseline. I investigated the association of performance on TUG with odds of achieving meaningful improvement in physical activity in patients post-TKR who received PT-led physical activity intervention only. Of all the people post TKR who received a PT-led physical activity intervention, those completed TUG within 13.5 seconds (good TUG performance) had higher odds of achieving

meaningful improvement in physical activity compared to those with limited TUG performance (took at least 13.5 seconds). However, our results were not statistically significant, given small sample size and should be viewed conservatively. Future research is needed to test these study findings.

6.1 Limitations and Future Directions

Our work, however, did not support all the hypothesis regarding the predictive value of functional vital signs. Walking speed seem to have higher predictive value for OA-related health outcomes compared to repeated chair stands time. There are several limitations with regard to the sample with prevent generalizing the study findings given the majority of our sample was white and at least college graduates. Second, we did not account for intercurrent events such as hospitalization, knee replacement, which occurred during the follow-up when we investigated the association of walking speed with all-cause mortality. We believe understanding how such events alter the association of functional vital signs with OA-related health outcomes are important and needed to study in future research. Future studies are needed to investigate the predictive value of functional vital signs for OA-related health outcomes in population-based studies because it will validate the predictive value of functional vital signs for OA-related health outcomes and establish their generalizability - an important pre-requisite before recommending the functional vital signs for widespread use for knee OA(137, 138). There is a possibility that study subjects may choose to not participate in physical activity (i.e., walk <6000 steps/day) or may have increased risk for all-cause mortality or KR, irrespective of their physical function ability possibly due to psychosocial barriers, hence the physical function threshold values should be viewed as estimates that have some variability. Future studies are needed to

investigate whether psychosocial factors mediate or moderate the relationship between physical function and OA-related health outcomes.

6.2 Conclusion and Clinical Significance

This dissertation provided direct evidence on the predictive value of functional vital signs for OA-related health outcomes and response to rehabilitation. In chapters 2-5, we investigated the predictive value of functional vital signs for OA-related health outcomes in patients with knee OA and the ability to achieve meaningful improvement following a PA intervention in adults post-TKR. This direct evidence of the predictive value may provide healthcare professional with objective tests to measure functional limitation in adults with knee OA. Further, the thresholds identified for the functional vital signs may indicate when people with knee OA need rehabilitation to address underlying functional limitation such as impaired endurance, to minimize the risk of future poor health and increase the ability to be physically active. The thresholds on the functional vital signs may serve as a clinical target for health professionals. Recommending PA to a patient post TKR without adequate physical functioning to do so will simply set them up for failure. If patients meet these thresholds, then they will be appropriate for a PA intervention. Thus, this dissertation provided empirical support to develop the evidence-based planning of the interventions to improve PA. As an effective intervention will target the factors known to cause physical inactivity.

REFERENCES

- Deshpande BR, Katz JN, Solomon DH, Yelin EH, Hunter DJ, Messier SP, et al. Number of Persons With Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis in the US: Impact of Race and Ethnicity, Age, Sex, and Obesity. Arthritis care & research. 2016;68(12):1743-50.
- 2. Vos T, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, Lozano R, Michaud C, Ezzati M, et al. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. The lancet. 2012;380(9859):2163-96.
- 3. Murray CJ, Richards MA, Newton JN, Fenton KA, Anderson HR, Atkinson C, et al. UK health performance: findings of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. The lancet. 2013;381(9871):997-1020.
- 4. Guccione AA, Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Anthony JM, Zhang Y, Wilson PW, et al. The effects of specific medical conditions on the functional limitations of elders in the Framingham Study. American Journal of Public Health. 1994;84(3):351-8.
- 5. Lawrence RC, Felson DT, Helmick CG, Arnold LM, Choi H, Deyo RA, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and other rheumatic conditions in the United States. Part II. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2008;58(1):26-35.
- 6. Hubertsson J, Petersson IF, Thorstensson CA, Englund M. Risk of sick leave and disability pension in working-age women and men with knee osteoarthritis. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2013;72(3):401.
- 7. Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report.: US Dept of Health and Human Services; Washington, DC; 2008.
- 8. Cross M, Smith E, Hoy D, Nolte S, Ackerman I, Fransen M, et al. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2014:annrheumdis-2013-204763.

- 9. Hawker GA, Croxford R, Bierman AS, Harvey PJ, Ravi B, Stanaitis I, et al. All-Cause Mortality and Serious Cardiovascular Events in People with Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Population Based Cohort Study. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(3):e91286.
- 10. Nüesch E, Dieppe P, Reichenbach S, Williams S, Iff S, Jüni P. All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis: population based cohort study. Bmj. 2011;342:d1165.
- 11. Liu Q, Niu J, Huang J, Ke Y, Tang X, Wu X, et al. Knee osteoarthritis and allcause mortality: the Wuchuan Osteoarthritis Study. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2015;23(7):1154-7.
- 12. Bellamy N, Kirwan J, Boers M, Brooks P, Strand V, Tugwell P, et al. Recommendations for a core set of outcome measures for future phase III clinical trials in knee, hip, and hand osteoarthritis. Consensus development at OMERACT III. The Journal of rheumatology. 1997;24(4):799-802.
- 13. McDonough CM, Jette AM. The contribution of osteoarthritis to functional limitations and disability. Clinics in geriatric medicine. 2010;26(3):387-99.
- 14. Dobson F, Hinman R, Roos EM, Abbott J, Stratford P, Davis A, et al. OARSI recommended performance-based tests to assess physical function in people diagnosed with hip or knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2013;21(8):1042-52.
- 15. Studenski S, Perera S, Patel K, Rosano C, Faulkner K, Inzitari M, et al. Gait speed and survival in older adults. Jama. 2011;305(1):50-8.
- 16. Tiedemann A, Shimada H, Sherrington C, Murray S, Lord S. The comparative ability of eight functional mobility tests for predicting falls in community-dwelling older people. Age and ageing. 2008;37(4):430-5.
- 17. Richardson J, Letts L, Chan D, Officer A, Wojkowski S, Oliver D, et al. Monitoring physical functioning as the sixth vital sign: evaluating patient and practice engagement in chronic illness care in a primary care setting--a quasiexperimental design. BMC Family Practice. 2012;13:29-.
- Hootman JM, Helmick CG, Barbour KE, Theis KA, Boring MA. Updated Projected Prevalence of Self-Reported Doctor-Diagnosed Arthritis and Arthritis-Attributable Activity Limitation Among US Adults, 2015–2040. Arthritis & rheumatology. 2016;68(7):1582-7.

- Bade MJ, Wolfe P, Zeni JA, Stevens-Lapsley JE, Snyder-Mackler L. Predicting poor physical performance after total knee arthroplasty. Journal of Orthopaedic Research. 2012;30(11):1805-10.
- 20. Fransen M, McConnell S, Harmer AR, Van der Esch M, Simic M, Bennell KL. Exercise for osteoarthritis of the knee. The Cochrane Library. 2015.
- 21. Deyle GD, Henderson NE, Matekel RL, Ryder MG, Garber MB, Allison SC. Effectiveness of manual physical therapy and exercise in osteoarthritis of the knee. A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 2000;132(3):173-81.
- 22. Bedard NA, Dowdle SB, Anthony CA, DeMik DE, McHugh MA, Bozic KJ, et al. The AAHKS Clinical Research Award: What Are the Costs of Knee Osteoarthritis in the Year Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty? The Journal of arthroplasty. 2017;32(9S):S8-S10 e1.
- 23. Power JD, Cott CA, Badley EM, Hawker GA. Physical therapy services for older adults with at least moderately severe hip or knee arthritis in 2 Ontario counties. The Journal of rheumatology. 2005;32(1):123-9.
- 24. Felson DT. Osteoarthritis of the knee. New England Journal of Medicine. 2006;354(8):841-8.
- 25. Wallis J, Webster K, Levinger P, Taylor N. What proportion of people with hip and knee osteoarthritis meet physical activity guidelines? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2013;21(11):1648-59.
- 26. O'Grady M, Fletcher J, Ortiz S. Therapeutic and physical fitness exercise prescription for older adults with joint disease: an evidence-based approach. Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America. 2000;26(3):617-46.
- 27. Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bouchard C, et al. Physical activity and public health: a recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. Jama. 1995;273(5):402-7.
- 28. Li J, Siegrist J. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease—a metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2012;9(2):391-407.
- 29. Lee I-M, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. The lancet. 2012;380(9838):219-29.

- 30. Murphy L, Schwartz TA, Helmick CG, Renner JB, Tudor G, Koch G, et al. Lifetime risk of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis care & research. 2008;59(9):1207-13.
- 31. Wittenauer R, Smith L, Aden K. Background paper 6.12 osteoarthritis. World Health Organisation. 2013.
- 32. Cleveland RJ, Alvarez C, Schwartz T, Losina E, Renner J, Jordan J, et al. The impact of painful knee osteoarthritis on mortality: a community-based cohort study with over 24 years of follow-up. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2019;27(4):593-602.
- 33. Hunter DJ, Schofield D, Callander E. The individual and socioeconomic impact of osteoarthritis. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2014;10(7):437-41.
- 34. Carr AJ, Robertsson O, Graves S, Price AJ, Arden NK, Judge A, et al. Knee replacement. The Lancet. 2012;379(9823):1331-40.
- 35. Cicuttini FM, Jones G, Forbes A, Wluka AE. Rate of cartilage loss at two years predicts subsequent total knee arthroplasty: a prospective study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2004;63(9):1124-7.
- 36. Toivanen AT, Arokoski JP, Manninen PS, Heliovaara M, Haara MM, Tyrvainen E, et al. Agreement between clinical and radiological methods of diagnosing knee osteoarthritis. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2007;36(1):58-63.
- 37. Chu CR, Williams AA, Coyle CH, Bowers ME. Early diagnosis to enable early treatment of pre-osteoarthritis. Arthritis research & therapy. 2012;14(3):212.
- 38. Glyn-Jones S, Palmer AJ, Agricola R, Price AJ, Vincent TL, Weinans H, et al. Osteoarthritis. Lancet. 2015;386(9991):376-87.
- 39. Bruyere O, Honore A, Rovati LC, Giacovelli G, Henrotin YE, Seidel L, et al. Radiologic features poorly predict clinical outcomes in knee osteoarthritis. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2002;31(1):13-6.
- 40. Dieppe PA, Cushnaghan J, Shepstone L. The Bristol 'OA500' study: progression of osteoarthritis (OA) over 3 years and the relationship between clinical and radiographic changes at the knee joint. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society. 1997;5(2):87-97.

- 41. Botha-Scheepers S, Watt I, Rosendaal FR, Breedveld FC, Hellio le Graverand MP, Kloppenburg M. Changes in outcome measures for impairment, activity limitation, and participation restriction over two years in osteoarthritis of the lower extremities. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2008;59(12):1750-5.
- 42. Sharma L, Song J, Hayes K, Pai YC, Dunlop D. Physical functioning over three years in knee osteoarthritis: role of psychosocial, local mechanical, and neuromuscular factors. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2003;48(12):3359-70.
- 43. Purser JL, Golightly YM, Feng Q, Helmick CG, Renner JB, Jordan JM. Slower walking speed is associated with incident knee osteoarthritis-related outcomes. Arthritis care & research. 2012;64(7):1028-35.
- 44. White DK, Neogi T, Zhang Y, Niu J, Katz PP. Association of slow gait speed with trajectories of worsening depressive symptoms in knee osteoarthritis: an observational study. Arthritis care & research. 2017;69(2):209-15.
- 45. Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of primary and revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume. 2007;89(4):780-5.
- 46. Payette H, Gueye NDR, Gaudreau P, Morais JA, Shatenstein B, Gray-Donald K. Trajectories of physical function decline and psychological functioning: the Quebec longitudinal study on nutrition and successful aging (NuAge). Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences. 2011;66(suppl_1):i82-i90.
- 47. Himann JE, Cunningham DA, Rechnitzer PA, Paterson DH. Age-related changes in speed of walking. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1988;20(2):161-6.
- 48. Kanehisa H, Fukunaga T. Age-related change in sit-to-stand power in Japanese women aged 50 years or older. Journal of physiological anthropology. 2014;33(1):26.
- 49. Øiestad BE, White DK, Booton R, Niu J, Zhang Y, Torner J, et al. Longitudinal Course of Physical Function in People With Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis: Data From the Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study and the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Arthritis care & research. 2016;68(3):325-31.
- 50. White DK, Neogi T, Nevitt MC, Peloquin CE, Zhu Y, Boudreau RM, et al. Trajectories of gait speed predict mortality in well-functioning older adults: the Health, Aging and Body Composition study. Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2012;68(4):456-64.

- 51. Cesari M, Kritchevsky SB, Penninx BW, Nicklas BJ, Simonsick EM, Newman AB, et al. Prognostic Value of Usual Gait Speed in Well-Functioning Older People—Results from the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2005;53(10):1675-80.
- 52. Master H, Thoma LM, Christiansen MB, Polakowski E, Schmitt LA, White DK. Minimum performance on clinical tests of physical function to predict walking 6000 steps/day in knee osteoarthritis: An observational study. Arthritis care & research. 2018;70(7):1005-11.
- 53. Sima CS, Gönen M. Optimal cutpoint estimation with censored data. Journal of Statistical Theory and Practice. 2013;7(2):345-59.
- 54. Sharrock NE, Cazan MG, Hargett MJL, Williams-Russo P, Wilson PD. Changes in Mortality After Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty over a Ten-Year Period. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 1995;80(2):242-8.
- 55. Paxton EW, Torres A, Love RM, Barber TC, Sheth DS, Inacio MCS. Total joint replacement: A multiple risk factor analysis of physical activity level 1–2 years postoperatively. Acta Orthopaedica. 2016;87(Suppl 1):44-9.
- 56. Vogel LA, Carotenuto G, Basti JJ, Levine WN. Physical Activity After Total Joint Arthroplasty. Sports Health. 2011;3(5):441-50.
- 57. Christiansen MB, Thoma LM, Master H, Mathews D, Schmitt LA, Melissa Z, et al. 1-Year Outcomes from a Novel Physical Therapist-Administered Physical Activity Intervention after Total Knee Replacement: A Pilot Study [abstract]. Arthritis Rheumatology. 2018;70 (10).
- 58. Clayton C, Feehan L, Goldsmith CH, Miller WC, Grewal N, Ye J, et al. Feasibility and preliminary efficacy of a physical activity counseling intervention using Fitbit in people with knee osteoarthritis: the TRACK-OA study protocol. Pilot and feasibility studies. 2015;1(1):30.
- 59. King AC. Interventions to promote physical activity by older adults. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2001;56(suppl_2):36-46.
- 60. Blair SN, Wei M. Sedentary habits, health, and function in older women and men. American Journal of Health Promotion. 2000;15(1):1-8.
- 61. Langlois JA, Keyl PM, Guralnik JM, Foley DJ, Marottoli RA, Wallace RB. Characteristics of older pedestrians who have difficulty crossing the street. American journal of public health. 1997;87(3):393-7.

- 62. Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Pieper CF, Leveille SG, Markides KS, Ostir GV, et al. Lower extremity function and subsequent disability consistency across studies, predictive models, and value of gait speed alone compared with the short physical performance battery. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2000;55(4):M221-M31.
- 63. White DK, Tudor-Locke C, Zhang Y, Fielding R, LaValley M, Felson DT, et al. Daily walking and the risk of incident functional limitation in knee osteoarthritis: an observational study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2014;66(9):1328-36.
- 64. Cross M, Smith E, Hoy D, Nolte S, Ackerman I, Fransen M, et al. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(7):1323-30.
- 65. Guccione AA, Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Anthony JM, Zhang Y, Wilson PW, et al. The effects of specific medical conditions on the functional limitations of elders in the Framingham Study. Am J Public Health. 1994;84(3):351-8.
- 66. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public health reports. 1985;100(2):126.
- 67. Mota J, Esculcas C. Leisure-time physical activity behavior: structured and unstructured choices according to sex, age, and level of physical activity. International journal of behavioral medicine. 2002;9(2):111-21.
- 68. Ettinger WH, Burns R, Messier SP, Applegate W, Rejeski WJ, Morgan T, et al. A randomized trial comparing aerobic exercise and resistance exercise with a health education program in older adults with knee osteoarthritis: the Fitness Arthritis and Seniors Trial (FAST). Jama. 1997;277(1):25-31.
- 69. Messier SP, DeVita P, Cowan RE, Seay J, Young HC, Marsh AP. Do older adults with knee osteoarthritis place greater loads on the knee during gait? A preliminary study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2005;86(4):703-9.
- 70. Messier SP, Loeser RF, Miller GD, Morgan TM, Rejeski WJ, Sevick MA, et al. Exercise and dietary weight loss in overweight and obese older adults with knee osteoarthritis: the Arthritis, Diet, and Activity Promotion Trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(5):1501-10.

- 71. Messier SP, Mihalko SL, Legault C, Miller GD, Nicklas BJ, DeVita P, et al. Effects of intensive diet and exercise on knee joint loads, inflammation, and clinical outcomes among overweight and obese adults with knee osteoarthritis: the IDEA randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2013;310(12):1263-73.
- 72. Jette AM. Toward a common language for function, disability, and health. Phys Ther. 2006;86(5):726-34.
- 73. Trost SG, McIver KL, Pate RR. Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2005;37(11):S531.
- 74. Berlin JE, Storti KL, Brach JS. Using activity monitors to measure physical activity in free-living conditions. Physical Therapy. 2006;86(8):1137-45.
- 75. Troiano RP, Berrigan D, Dodd KW, Masse LC, Tilert T, McDowell M. Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2008;40(1):181.
- 76. Dunlop DD, Song J, Semanik PA, Chang RW, Sharma L, Bathon JM, et al. Objective physical activity measurement in the osteoarthritis initiative: Are guidelines being met? Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2011;63(11):3372-82.
- 77. Fransen M, Crosbie J, Edmonds J. Reliability of gait measurements in people with osteoarthritis of the knee. Physical therapy. 1997;77(9):944-53.
- 78. Bohannon RW. Reference values for the five-repetition sit-to-stand test: a descriptive meta-analysis of data from elders. Perceptual and motor skills. 2006;103(1):215-22.
- 79. Lin YC, Davey R, Cochrane T. Tests for physical function of the elderly with knee and hip osteoarthritis. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2001;11(5):280-6.
- 80. Katz JN, Chang LC, Sangha O, Fossel AH, Bates DW. Can comorbidity be measured by questionnaire rather than medical record review? Med Care. 1996;34(1):73-84.
- 81. Guccione AA, Felson DT, Anderson JJ. Defining arthritis and measuring functional status in elders: methodological issues in the study of disease and physical disability. American Journal of Public Health. 1990;80(8):945-9.
- 82. Fritz S, Lusardi M. White paper: "walking speed: the sixth vital sign". Journal of geriatric physical therapy. 2009;32(2):2-5.

- 83. Perera S, Mody SH, Woodman RC, Studenski SA. Meaningful change and responsiveness in common physical performance measures in older adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2006;54(5):743-9.
- 84. Park Y-H, Kim Y-m, Lee B-H. An ankle proprioceptive control program improves balance, gait ability of chronic stroke patients. Journal of physical therapy science. 2013;25(10):1321-4.
- 85. Bohannon RW. Comfortable and maximum walking speed of adults aged 20—79 years: reference values and determinants. Age and ageing. 1997;26(1):15-9.
- 86. Clark DJ, Manini TM, Fielding RA, Patten C. Neuromuscular determinants of maximum walking speed in well-functioning older adults. Experimental gerontology. 2013;48(3):358-63.
- 87. Fiser WM, Hays NP, Rogers SC, Kajkenova O, Williams AE, Evans CM, et al. Energetics of walking in elderly people: factors related to gait speed. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2010;65(12):1332-7.
- 88. Meretta BM, Whitney SL, Marchetti GF, Sparto PJ, Muirhead RJ. The five times sit to stand test: responsiveness to change and concurrent validity in adults undergoing vestibular rehabilitation. Journal of Vestibular Research. 2006;16(4, 5):233-43.
- 89. Bohannon RW, Shove ME, Barreca SR, Masters LM, Sigouin CS. Fiverepetition sit-to-stand test performance by community-dwelling adults: A preliminary investigation of times, determinants, and relationship with selfreported physical performance. Isokinetics and exercise science. 2007;15(2):77-81.
- 90. Mong Y, Teo TW, Ng SS. 5-repetition sit-to-stand test in subjects with chronic stroke: reliability and validity. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2010;91(3):407-13.
- 91. Schaubert KL, Bohannon RW. Reliability and validity of three strength measures obtained from community-dwelling elderly persons. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research. 2005;19(3):717-20.
- 92. Whitney SL, Wrisley DM, Marchetti GF, Gee MA, Redfern MS, Furman JM. Clinical Measurement of Sit-to-Stand Performance in People With Balance Disorders: Validity of Data for the Five-Times-Sit-to-Stand Test. Physical Therapy. 2005;85(10):1034-45.

- 93. Guide to Physical Therapist Practice: American Physical Therapy Association; 2016 [Available from: <u>http://guidetoptpractice.apta.org/</u>.
- 94. Fransen M, McConnell S, Harmer AR, Van der Esch M, Simic M, Bennell KL. Exercise for osteoarthritis of the knee. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015;1:Cd004376.
- 95. Losina E, Walensky RP, Reichmann WM, Holt HL, Gerlovin H, Solomon DH, et al. Impact of obesity and knee osteoarthritis on morbidity and mortality in older Americans. Annals of internal medicine. 2011;154(4):217-26.
- 96. Zhang W, Moskowitz R, Nuki G, Abramson S, Altman R, Arden N, et al. OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, Part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2008;16(2):137-62.
- 97. Feldman DE, Bernatsky S, Lévesque JF, Van MT, Houde M, April KT. Access and perceived need for physical and occupational therapy in chronic arthritis. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2010;32(22):1827-32.
- 98. Yeh H-J, Chou Y-J, Yang N-P, Huang N. Receipt of physical therapy among osteoarthritis patients and its influencing factors. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2015;96(6):1021-7.
- 99. Middleton A, Fritz SL, Lusardi M. Walking speed: the functional vital sign. Journal of aging and physical activity. 2015;23(2):314.
- 100. Barbour KE, Lui L-Y, McCulloch CE, Ensrud KE, Cawthon PM, Yaffe K, et al. Trajectories of lower extremity physical performance: effects on fractures and mortality in older women. Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2016;71(12):1609-15.
- Corsi M, Alvarez C, Callahan LF, Cleveland RJ, Golightly YM, Jordan JM, et al. Contributions of symptomatic osteoarthritis and physical function to incident cardiovascular disease. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2018;19(1):393.
- 102. Kwon S, Perera S, Pahor M, Katula J, King A, Groessl E, et al. What is a meaningful change in physical performance? Findings from a clinical trial in older adults (the LIFE-P study). JNHA-The Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging. 2009;13(6):538-44.

- 103. Cesari M, Kritchevsky SB, Newman AB, Simonsick EM, Harris TB, Penninx BW, et al. Added value of physical performance measures in predicting adverse health-related events: results from the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2009;57(2):251-9.
- 104. Haas SA, Krueger PM, Rohlfsen L. Race/ethnic and nativity disparities in later life physical performance: the role of health and socioeconomic status over the life course. Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences. 2012;67(2):238-48.
- Penninx BW, Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, Deeg DJ, Wallace RB. Depressive symptoms and physical decline in community-dwelling older persons. Jama. 1998;279(21):1720-6.
- 106. Hannan MT, Anderson JJ, Pincus T, Felson DT. Educational attainment and osteoarthritis: differential associations with radiographic changes and symptom reporting. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 1992;45(2):139-47.
- 107. Felson DT, Lawrence RC, Dieppe PA, Hirsch R, Helmick CG, Jordan JM, et al. Osteoarthritis: new insights. Part 1: the disease and its risk factors. Annals of internal medicine. 2000;133(8):635-46.
- 108. Katz JN, Chang LC, Sangha O, Fossel AH, Bates DW. Can comorbidity be measured by questionnaire rather than medical record review? Medical care. 1996:73-84.
- 109. Radloff LS. The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. Applied psychological measurement. 1977;1(3):385-401.
- 110. Goldie PA, Matyas TA, Evans OM. Deficit and change in gait velocity during rehabilitation after stroke. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 1996;77(10):1074-82.
- 111. Ng SS, Ng PC, Lee CY, Ng ES, Tong MH, Fong SS, et al. Assessing the walking speed of older adults: the influence of walkway length. American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation. 2013;92(9):776-80.
- 112. Cooper R, Kuh D, Hardy R. Objectively measured physical capability levels and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj. 2010;341:c4467.

- Bandinelli S, Milaneschi Y, Ferrucci L. Chair stands test and survival in the older population. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2009;57(11):2172-3.
- 114. Losina E, Paltiel AD, Weinstein AM, Yelin E, Hunter DJ, Chen SP, et al. Lifetime medical costs of knee osteoarthritis management in the United States: impact of extending indications for total knee arthroplasty. Arthritis care & research. 2015;67(2):203-15.
- 115. van Dijk GM, Veenhof C, Schellevis F, Hulsmans H, Bakker JP, Arwert H, et al. Comorbidity, limitations in activities and pain in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2008;9(1):95.
- 116. Neogi T, Zhang Y. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Rheumatic Disease Clinics. 2013;39(1):1-19.
- 117. Ageberg E, Engstrom G, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Rollof J, Roos EM, Lohmander LS. Effect of leisure time physical activity on severe knee or hip osteoarthritis leading to total joint replacement: a population-based prospective cohort study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2012;13:73.
- 118. Samson MM, Crowe A, De Vreede P, Dessens JA, Duursma SA, Verhaar HJ. Differences in gait parameters at a preferred walking speed in healthy subjects due to age, height and body weight. Aging clinical and experimental research. 2001;13(1):16-21.
- 119. Rudolph KS, Schmitt LC, Lewek MD. Age-related changes in strength, joint laxity, and walking patterns: are they related to knee osteoarthritis? Physical therapy. 2007;87(11):1422-32.
- 120. Witjes S, van Geenen RCI, Koenraadt KLM, van der Hart CP, Blankevoort L, Kerkhoffs GMMJ, et al. Expectations of younger patients concerning activities after knee arthroplasty: are we asking the right questions? Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation. 2017;26(2):403-17.
- 121. Rolland Y, Lauwers-Cances V, Cesari M, Vellas B, Pahor M, Grandjean H. Physical Performance Measures as Predictors of Mortality in a Cohort of Community-dwelling Older French Women. European Journal of Epidemiology. 2006;21(2):113-22.

- 122. White DK, Tudor-Locke C, Zhang Y, Fielding R, LaValley M, Felson DT, et al. Daily walking and the risk of incident functional limitation in knee osteoarthritis: an observational study. Arthritis care & research. 2014;66(9):1328-36.
- 123. Christiansen MB, Thoma LM, Master H, Schmitt LA, Pohlig R, White DK. A Physical Therapist–Administered Physical Activity Intervention After Total Knee Replacement: Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial. Physical therapy. 2018.
- 124. Christiansen MB, Thoma LM, Master H, Voinier D, Schmitt LA, Ziegler ML, et al. The feasibility and preliminary outcomes of a physical therapistadministered physical activity intervention after total knee replacement. Arthritis care & research. 2019.
- 125. Ruberg SJ, Chen L, Wang Y. The mean does not mean as much anymore: finding sub-groups for tailored therapeutics. Clinical trials. 2010;7(5):574-83.
- 126. Feinstein AR. The problem of cogent subgroups: a clinicostatistical tragedy. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 1998;51(4):297-9.
- 127. Wang R, Lagakos SW, Ware JH, Hunter DJ, Drazen JM. Statistics in medicine—reporting of subgroup analyses in clinical trials. New England Journal of Medicine. 2007;357(21):2189-94.
- 128. Foster JC, Taylor JM, Ruberg SJ. Subgroup identification from randomized clinical trial data. Statistics in medicine. 2011;30(24):2867-80.
- 129. Lee I-M, Shiroma EJ, Kamada M, Bassett DR, Matthews CE, Buring JE. Association of Step Volume and Intensity With All-Cause Mortality in Older WomenAssociation of Step Volume and Intensity With All-Cause Mortality in Older WomenAssociation of Step Volume and Intensity With All-Cause Mortality in Older Women. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2019.
- 130. Podsiadlo D, Richardson S. The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. Journal of the American geriatrics Society. 1991;39(2):142-8.
- 131. Norén AM, Bogren U, Bolin J, Stenström C. Balance assessment in patients with peripheral arthritis: applicability and reliability of some clinical assessments. Physiotherapy Research International. 2001;6(4):193-204.

- 132. Alghadir A, Anwer S, Brismée J-M. The reliability and minimal detectable change of Timed Up and Go test in individuals with grade 1-3 knee osteoarthritis. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:174-.
- 133. Issa K, Pivec R, Kapadia BH, Shah T, Harwin SF, Delanois RE, et al. Does obesity affect the outcomes of primary total knee arthroplasty? The journal of knee surgery. 2013;26(02):089-94.
- 134. Rodriguez-Merchan EC. The Influence of Obesity on the Outcome of TKR: Can the Impact of Obesity be justified from the Viewpoint of the Overall Health Care System? HSS J. 2014;10(2):167-70.
- 135. Lingard EA, Katz JN, Wright EA, Sledge CB. Predicting the outcome of total knee arthroplasty. JBJS. 2004;86(10):2179-86.
- 136. Dusseldorp E, Doove L, Van Mechelen I. Quint: An R package for the identification of subgroups of clients who differ in which treatment alternative is best for them. Behavior research methods. 2016;48(2):650-63.
- 137. Altman DG, Vergouwe Y, Royston P, Moons KG. Prognosis and prognostic research: validating a prognostic model. Bmj. 2009;338:b605.
- 138. Collins GS, Reitsma JB, Altman DG, Moons KG. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): the TRIPOD statement. BMJ. 2015;350:g7594.

Appendix A

IRB APPROVAL LETTER: TO USE PUBLICLY AVAILABLE DATA – OSTEOARTHITITS INITATIVE (OAI)



Research Office

210 Hullihen Hall University of Delaware Newark, Delaware 19716-1551 Ph: 302/831-2136 Fax: 302/831-2828

DATE:	September 26, 2017
TO: FROM:	Daniel White, PT, ScD, MSc University of Delaware IRB
STUDY TITLE:	[1125357-1] Physical activity, physical function, demographics and psychological factors in people with or without knee osteoarthritis using large data sets.
SUBMISSION TYPE:	New Project
ACTION: DECISION DATE:	DETERMINATION OF EXEMPT STATUS September 26, 2017
REVIEW CATEGORY:	Exemption category # (4)

Thank you for your submission of New Project materials for this research study. The University of Delaware IRB has determined this project is EXEMPT FROM IRB REVIEW according to federal regulations.

We will put a copy of this correspondence on file in our office. Please remember to notify us if you make any substantial changes to the project.

If you have any questions, please contact Nicole Farnese-McFarlane at (302) 831-1119 or nicolefm@udel.edu. Please include your study title and reference number in all correspondence with this office.

Appendix B

IRB APPROVAL LETTER FOR RANDOMIZED CONTROL CLINICAL TRIAL - PHYSICAL THERAPIST-LED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY INTERVENTION AFTER TKR



RESEARCH OFFICE

210 Hullihen Hall University of Delaware Newark, Delaware 19716-1551 Ph: 302/831-2136 Fax: 302/831-2828

DATE:	September 28, 2018
TO: FROM:	Daniel White, PT, ScD, MSc University of Delaware IRB
STUDY TITLE:	[946165-26] A novel physical therapy administered physical activity intervention after TKR $\!\!\!$
SUBMISSION TYPE:	Continuing Review/Progress Report
ACTION: APPROVAL DATE: EFFECTIVE DATE:	APPROVED September 20, 2018 September 28, 2018
EXPIRATION DATE: REVIEW TYPE:	September 20, 2019 Full Committee Review
REVIEW CATEGORY:	Full Board Review

* Revised consent to contact form for sceening purposes approved. However request for waiver of documentation of informed consent not granted as the request does not meet the requirements as outlined per 45 CFR 46. 117(c).

Thank you for your submission of Continuing Review/Progress Report materials for this research study. The University of Delaware IRB has APPROVED your submission. This approval is based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a study design wherein the risks have been minimized. All research must be conducted in accordance with this approved submission.

This submission has received Full Committee Review based on the applicable federal regulation.

Please remember that <u>informed consent</u> is a process beginning with a description of the study and insurance of participant understanding followed by a signed consent form. Informed consent must continue throughout the study via a dialogue between the researcher and research participant. Federal regulations require each participant receive a copy of the signed consent document.

Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by this office prior to initiation. Please use the appropriate revision forms for this procedure.

All SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported to this office. Please use the appropriate adverse event forms for this procedure. All sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed.

Appendix C

PERMISSION TO USE PAPER PUBLISHED IN ARTHITIS CARE & RESEARCH JOURNAL

Chapter 2 is the pre-peer reviewed version of the following article: Master, H., Thoma, L. M., Christiansen, M. B., Polakowski, E., Schmitt, L. A., & White, D. K. (2018). Minimum performance on clinical tests of physical function to predict walking 6,000 steps/day in knee osteoarthritis: an observational study. Arthritis care & research, 70(7), 1005-1011, which has been published in final form https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.23448. This article may be used for non-commercial purposes in accordance with Wiley Terms and Conditions for Use of Self-Archived Versions.



There is no obligation upon authors to remove preprints posted to not for profit preprint servers prior to submission

Additionally, permission had been requested on July 10th, 2019 to reuse the manuscript for dissertation/thesis.

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 10, 2019

s Agreement between University of D in Wiley and Sons and Copyright Cle	elaware ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by arance Center.
License Number	4625351417570
License date	Jul 10, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Arthritis Care and Research
Licensed Content Title	Minimum Performance on Clinical Tests of Physical Function to Predict Walking 6,000 Steps/Day in Knee Osteoarthritis: An Observational Study
Licensed Content Author	Hiral Master, Louise M. Thoma, Meredith B. Christiansen, et al
Licensed Content Date	May 6, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	70
Licensed Content Issue	7
icensed Content Pages	7
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	PREDICTIVE VALUE OF PERFORMANCE-BASED PHYSICAL FUNCTION MEASURES FOR OSTEOARTHRITIS-RELATED HEALTH OUTCOMES AND RESPONSE TO A PHYSICAL ACTIVITY INTERVENTION
Expected completion date	Aug 2019
Expected size (number of pages)	130
Requestor Location	University of Delaware 540 S College Ar, Suite 210 Z
	NEWARK, DE 19713 United States Aftri: University of Delaware
Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151
Total	0.00 USD

7/10/2019 Terms and Conditions RightsLink - Your Account

TERMS AND CONDITIONS The copyrighter material is canned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Son, hr.c. or one of the grupp companies (each a "Wiley Company") or handleid on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WLEV"). By cloking "accept" in connection with completing this locasizes threasection, you agree that the following terms and conditions paylor that stransation (along with the Billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Isc., ("COCL") Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at <u>the Unit The Condition Conditions</u>).

Terms and Conditions

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a stand-adore basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license (a reacting a space of the stand-adore basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license (a reacting a space of the stand-adore basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license (a reacting a space of the stand-adore basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license (a reacting a space of the stand-adore basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license (a reacting a space of the stand-adore basis), and any CONTENT (PDF or Image file) purchased as part of your orders, is for a one-time used within hev years of the date of the grant of the license (athway house), cosies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafted). Weily Materials shall not be used in any other manor or for any other propose, bryonk shall as granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate advoroel/segment granted base the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate advoroel/segment granted base the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate advoroel stop material base duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Weily publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the license advoroel stop material base duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Weily Material. Permission is also granted on the understanded for an tor the store in the text is a previously published source advoroel defore for any other propriet fast non-base used in any published source advoroel source advoroel appeared base to appear advoroel source advoroel appeared base to appeared base to appeared base to appear advoroel source advoroel appeared base to appeared base to appear advoroel so appeared base to appropriate advoroel source advoroel appeared base to appea
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for more reformating required by the new Publication), banalated, reproduced, transferred or databated, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the pror permission of the respective copyright comer. For STM Signatory Publishers Cleaning permission under the terms of the STM Signatory Publishers Cleaning permission under the terms of the STM Signatory Publishers Cleaning permission on the respective copyright comer. For STM Signatory Publishers Cleaning permission may not make could be STM Signatory of the segment of the Clean error extended to include sobreagenet editions and for the stratest, You may not allow cleane or toget respective copyright tolemank or client ordine robustive by the segment shares. For STM Signatory entry, tanking, Store et allows, and the set extenses, You may not allow clience or supersist any matter any copyright, talemank and collien other notions displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not large, periode, other other sets starts, You may not large, respective copyright talemank and collience to appress respective to any other periods. Splantion of the respective to any other periods. Splanting to the set of the STM Signatory of the Stermank of the robust starts, You may not large, respective to appress the Wiley Materials on a stand-allow basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other periods.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein, You shall have no rights hereunder of that agreement you on no right, tile or extension to right, tile or extension to right the entrance, and or the intellectual property rights therein, You shall have no rights hereunder other than the locense as provided for above in Section 2. No right, locense or interest with right, locense or interest with respect thereto bunding "(Matrix)" of lecterons is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not asset any such right, locense or interest with the respect thereto
- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF REPORTABILITY, ACCURACY SATISFACTORY QULITY, FINEISS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WARVED BY YOU.

WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.

 You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.